
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Graham Seal

Please note change of date

11 September 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Wednesday 19 September 2018  at 7.30 pm in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 July 2018 
(previously circulated).

3.  PETITIONS 

The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented).

4.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough.

Public Document Pack



5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda.

6.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service.

7.  QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6)

For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough.

Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply.

8.  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET 

To consider recommendations from the meeting of the Cabinet on 4 September 
2018:-

(a)   Equality Scheme 2018-21 (Pages 7 - 36)

(b)   Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Eligibility Criteria Consultation 
(Pages 37 - 52)

(c)   Introduction of General Procurement Board (Pages 53 - 58)

9.  MATTER ARISING FROM COMMITTEE 

To consider a recommendation from the meeting of the Standards Committee on 
3 September 2018:-

(a)   Surveillance Update 2018 (Pages 59 - 76)

10.  HIGH VIEW DEVELOPMENT (Pages 77 - 80)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural 
Services) on approval of an additional capital budget for this project.

(Note:  A special Cabinet meeting is being held immediately before the Council 
meeting and confirmation of the Cabinet recommendation 2:2 contained in the 
report will be given at the meeting).



11.  WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME (Pages 81 - 88)

To consider recommendations (1) and (2) on the review of Members’ allowances 
for 2018/19 from the meeting of the Independent Remuneration Panel held on 
5 September 2018 as set out in the attached Minutes of the meeting.

12.  NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50 (Pages 89 - 90)

To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 12 September 2018 will be circulated separately.

13.  URGENT MATTERS 

To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r).

Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact 
Graham Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 7

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:-

1. Question to the Executive Member (Leisure, Culture and Communications) from 
Councillor Sunny Thusu

‘This was the second year of the BIG Summer programme of events for young 
people in Welwyn Hatfield during the summer holidays. I understand a host of 
activities were arranged and that they were well received. Could the portfolio 
holder confirm the number of events, how many youngsters took advantage, 
give an example of what was on offer and give his thoughts as to the success 
of BIG Summer 2018?’

2. Question to the Leader from Councillor Helen Quenet
 

“I’m aware the County Council and the LEP have expressed significant concern 
over the economic and workforce impacts of Brexit, particularly highlighting the 
very serious problems a no-deal Brexit will present to delivering County Council 
services. In contrast this Council seems to have little idea of the consequences 
and impacts on Borough Council service delivery for Welwyn Hatfield residents, 
let alone have civil emergency plans in place or even be aware if these might 
be needed.

Can the Leader of the Council therefore please update us on the Borough 
Council plans that have been drawn up for the various forms of Brexit including 
what economic impact are we to expect locally for the different Brexit 
scenarios?”

3. Question to the Executive Member (Housing and Community)/Leader from 
Councillor Lynn Chesterman

“More private landlords are refusing to take residents who are supported by 
benefits and the rise in Welwyn Hatfield residents in temporary 
accommodation (including the use of bed and breakfast for the first time) has 
resulted in our staff carrying case loads of 2.5 times what they should be 
responsible for.  Would the Portfolio Holder or Leader please inform the 
Council as to whether they have written to the appropriate Secretary of State 
to raise concerns at the effects that this dire situation has on our residents and 
staff?”

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



4. Question to the Leader from Councillor Samuel Kasumu

“The examination of our Borough’s draft Local Plan by the Government-
appointed inspector has been underway for some time now.  
 
Under the legislation, as I understand it, the ultimate authority to determine 
whether or not our Local Plan is “sound” lies with the Government-appointed 
inspector, and not with the Council itself.
 
Given this, would the Leader be able to outline the sanctions from central 
Government that this Council could potentially face, if, by the end of the 
process, we were unable to agree a “sound” Local Plan with the inspector?”

5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Siobhan Elam

“Under the Government's Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme 
launched in 2015, this Council has, to date, received and housed two Syrian 
families.  Can the Leader of the Council please tell us if Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council have any plans to receive additional Syrian families to bring it 
in line with the numbers so far received by other Boroughs across 
Hertfordshire?”

6. Question to the Leader from Councillor Glyn Hayes

“Sickness due to stress is on an upward trend across the Country.  What is our 
current level of sickness due to stress and has it increased over the last five 
years?”

7. Question to the Leader from Councillor Max Holloway

“With Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual or Transgender (LGBT) related hate-crime on the 
rise and one in five LGBT people experiencing a hate crime incident within the 
last twelve months, does the Leader agree that not taking part in London or 
Herts Pride, and failing to acknowledge pride or any form of LGBT recognition 
is a missed opportunity? In fact there has been no mention of any form of LGBT 
issue awareness on the Council's social media since 2015. Would she please 
be able to tell me what plans are in place, both internally and externally to 
address this?”

8. Question to the Leader from Councillor Malcolm Cowan

“Has this Council’s performance on enforcement changed since I asked about 
this at the previous meeting?”

Page 6



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 4 September 2018:-

40.1 Equality Scheme 2018-21 (Forward Plan Reference FP856)

The Cabinet considered a proposed revised Equality Scheme for the 
Council.

The equality scheme was a statutory requirement under the Equalities Act 
2010 which placed a duty on local authorities to publish information on how 
services impacted on users, how policies and procedures were assessed 
to make sure they were non-discriminatory, how equality objectives were 
being met and how stakeholders were consulted in developing the 
approach to equality and diversity.

The proposed scheme met these requirements and importantly it included 
an action plan on how the Council would deliver on its five equality 
objectives as introduced in the Equality Policy approved by the Cabinet in 
January 2018.

The action plan would be reviewed at each Equality Steering Group 
meeting with annual updates being provided to the Social Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

The Cabinet endorsed the new Equality Scheme and RECOMMENDS it to 
the Council for approval.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Simone Chinman Russell
Executive Member: Tony Kingsbury
Wards: All

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET – 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to propose a revised Equality Scheme for Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council. 

1.2 The Scheme meets the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and has been 
developed by the council’s Equality and Diversity Steering Group. 

1.3 The council’s new Equality Scheme will reflect the five new equality objectives as 
set out in the Equality Policy 2018.

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Cabinet endorses the new Equality Scheme and recommends its approval to 
Council.

3 Explanation

3.1 The Equality and Diversity Steering Group has developed a revised Equality 
Scheme which will replace the previously published Scheme for Welwyn Hatfield 
Council.  The proposed new Scheme is fully compliant with the requirements of 
the Equality Act 2010.  In addition to the requirement for the council to take 
positive steps to prevent discrimination and promote good relations among 
people from different groups, the council, as a public authority, is also required to 
publish an Equality Scheme. This sets out our equality objectives and explains 
the actions we intend to take to achieve them. We are also required to state how 
we have consulted on our Equality Scheme.

3.2 The proposed new Equality Scheme provides a framework for ensuring that our 
commitment towards equal opportunities is reflected in all the services we 
deliver, including those which we provide as an employer and partner to other 
organisations.  

3.3 The Equality Scheme sets out five equality objectives. These are:

1. We will lead by example within the community, promoting equality of 
opportunity and fairness.

2. We will value and understand the diversity of our communities, for the benefit 
of our customers and all residents of the borough.

3. We will deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services.

4. We will provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a 
culture of equality within the work place.

Page 9



- 2 -

5. We will consult with residents and the community on matters which affect 
them, taking into account the diversity of our borough.

3.4 An Equality Plan is published within the new Equality Scheme.  This will set out 
how the objectives will be delivered and monitored over a two year period.

3.5 Consultation has taken place during the development of the Equality Scheme.  
Consultees included residents, tenants and other service users, council 
employees, partnerships/organisations and contractors. We received 72 
responses and these included numerous comments and suggestions.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 The proposed new Equality Scheme is compliant with the Equality Act 2010.  The 
Scheme provides for fulfilment of the council’s General and Specific Equality 
Duties, as defined within the Equality Act 2010.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The cost of implementation and the ongoing management of the Equalities 
Scheme will be contained existing service budgets.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

Breaches of the Equality Act by council could result in customer complaints, 
criminal proceedings, employment tribunals, fines, reputational damage and 
reduced opportunities for partnership working in the future.

6.2 The Equality Scheme will help to mitigate the risk of any future litigation against 
the council for non-compliance with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010.  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no known security and terrorism implications associated with 
this recommendation.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications associated with this 
recommendation.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this recommendation.

Page 10



- 3 -

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities:

Promoting equality and fairness and improving public health and wellbeing, and 
is linked to a statutory requirement under the Equality Act 2010.

10.2 However by providing greater equality of opportunity for staff, residents, 
contractors and employers, the implementation of this Scheme will help to meet 
all of the council’s corporate priorities.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies.

 
Name of author Simone Chinman Russell
Title Corporate Director, Housing and Communities
Date 31 July 2018

Appendix

Equality Scheme 2018-21

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21

Page 13



Welcome to our Equality Scheme

At Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council we are committed to providing equality of opportunity for our 
customers, employees and any other people affected by our activities. 

We recognise that people come from different communities and have different circumstances. We want to 
make sure that we provide our services and employment opportunities in a way which values this diversity 
and does not create barriers to people who wish to access them.

Our Equality Scheme 2018-21 sets our Equality Objectives and explains the actions we intend to take to 
achieve them.

This document also contains useful information about our council, its customers and employees. 

We have involved a large group of customers, staff and community partners in developing the Scheme.  
Your views are important to us and we welcome your comments and feedback on our Equality Scheme.  
We also want as many people as possible to be involved in reviewing our services.  Please contact us if 
you would like to find out more about how you can get involved.

We look forward to hearing from you.

Tony Kingsbury Simone Chinman Russell
Executive Member, Housing and Community Corporate Director, Housing and Communities

If you would like to become involved or would like to give us feedback please contact us at:
Contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk
Telephone: 01707 357000

Page 14

mailto:Contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk


About Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

OUR VISION, VALUES AND PRIORITIES

Welwyn Hatfield Council provides services to 122,000 people who live in the borough and the many more 
who work and study here.  The council has more than 500 employees and indirectly provides employment 
opportunities for the many contractors who provide services on the council’s behalf.

We are passionate about delivering excellent, inclusive services within our borough and this is supported by 
our vision, values and objectives.

Our Vision
To work together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place to live, work and study in a vibrant and growing 
economy.

Our Values

Our values demonstrate what is important to us in our dealings with residents, businesses, partners and 
employees.

Our values are:

Fairness: We will be fair in our policies and decision making, listening to the views and learning 
from the feedback we receive

Integrity: We will be honest, clear and consistent about what we do

Respect: We will have respect for residents, businesses, partners 
and employees

Innovative: We will evaluate and implement new ways of providing our services when it leads to 
greater efficiency without compromising the quality

Responsive: We will ensure we respond to internal and external influences on our services by 
adapting them to meeting changing needs.

Transparent: We will be approachable, accountable and transparent in 
the way we communicate and conduct our business

Our priorities and objectives

Our vision is achieved by working with our partners, businesses and residents towards our five key 
priorities.

1. Our community

 Promoting inclusive and safe communities
 Improving public health and well-being
 Supporting local sport and leisure
 Promoting local art and culture

2. Our environment

 Keeping our streets clean
 Reducing waste and improving recycling
 Enhancing our green spaces
 Managing the borough’s parking

Page 15



3. Our housing 

 Planning for current and future housing need
 Providing more affordable homes
 Being a high quality landlord
 Improving housing quality in the borough

4. Our economy

 Promoting investment and regeneration
 Revitalising our neighbourhood and town centres
 Supporting sustainable economic growth
 Being business friendly

5. Our council 

 Achieving value for money
 Putting our customers first
 Promoting equality and fairness
 Being an employer of choice

More information on our priorities and service objectives can be found at www.welhat.gov.uk/businessplan

Page 16



About Welwyn Hatfield 

Welwyn Hatfield is located centrally within Hertfordshire and covers an area of approximately 130 square 
kilometres (12,954 hectares). It is bordered by Hertsmere Borough Council to the south west, St Albans 
District Council to the west, North Hertfordshire District Council to the north and East Hertfordshire District 
Council and Broxbourne Borough Councils to the east.  The very south of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
borders the London Borough of Enfield.  The Metropolitan Green Belt covers 79% of our borough, which is 
approximately 10,248 hectares.

Population size
The population of the borough is rising, having increased by 10.4% between 2011 and 2016.  The latest 
(mid-2016) estimate1 puts the population of Welwyn Hatfield District at 60,400 males and 61,600 females.

Ethnicity
The largest ethnic group in Welwyn Hatfield is White (English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British), 
accounting for 76.5% of the population. That compares with a figure of 80.82% for Hertfordshire.

The largest other ethnic groups are ‘white other’ (5.89%), followed by Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British: African (3.59%) and then Asian or Asian British: Indian (3.19%).

There has been a significant change in the ethnicity of the borough’s population in recent years, with ethnic 
diversity in the borough increasing substantially.  

Between 2001 and 2011 the proportion of ‘white British’ residents has fallen by over 12%, whilst the 
percentage of all other minority ethnic groups collectively has more than doubled to 23.5%.   This increase 
has been spread across all the other non-white ethnic groups.

Immigration
The increase in ethnic diversity is reflected in immigration data.  There have been some important upward 
trends in Welwyn Hatfield.  Since 2011/12 the estimated level of immigration has increased year-on-year.  
However, this does not apply across all nationalities. 

Between 2011 and 2015 immigration from New Commonwealth countries halved, from approximately 800 
to 400 per annum whereas for the same period the registration of new migrants from EU13 countries 
increased from 400 to 1300 per annum.  The largest increase in recent years has been Polish nationals.2

Proficiency in Spoken English
In 2011, 91.44% of residents in Welwyn Hatfield used English as their main language. 0.99% of residents 
did not have English as a main language and could not speak English well. 0.13% of residents could not 
speak English at all.3

1 Annual mid-year population estimates, produced by the Office for National Statistics (ONS). 

2 DWP 2017
3 Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census

Page 17

http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109401&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109401&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109414&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109414&norefer=true


The following table shows the recorded ethnicity profile percentages for 2001 and 2011.

Welwyn 
Hatfield

England

2001 2011 2001 2011

White : British 88.79 76.5 86.8 79.8

White: Irish 1.7 1.5 1.3 1.0

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveler Not counted
 20014

0.1 0.0 0.1

White Other 3.1 5.9 2.7 4.6
Mixed : White and Black Caribbean 0.4 0.8 0.4 0.8

Mixed : White and Black African 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.3

Mixed : White and Asian 0.5 0.7 0.3 0.6

Mixed : Other Mixed 0.4 0.6 0.3 0.5

Asian or Asian British : Indian 1.4 3.2 2.1 2.6

Asian or Asian British : Pakistani 0.3 0.7 1.5 2.1

Asian or Asian British : Bangladeshi 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.8

Asian or Asian British : Other Asian 0.4 1.9 0.5 0.7

Asian or Asian British : Chinese 0.8 1.7 0.4 1.5
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
Caribbean

0.5 0.7 0.5 1.8

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 0.9 3.6 0.31 1.1

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Other 
Black

0.1 0.3 0.10 0.5

Arab Not counted 
52001

0.4 0.0 0.4

Other ethnic group 0.5 0.5 0.27 0.6

Borough population by ethnic group (Census, 2001/ 2011)

The 10 years between 2001 and 2011 saw a reduction of 12.3% in the number of people in ‘White: British’ 
and rises of an average 2.75% in ‘White: Other’ and Black African Caribbean or black British and 
1.4%‘Asian or Asian British: Indian’ 

This broadly reflects the ethnic mix of the growing student population attending the University of 
Hertfordshire over this period, and a significant level of immigration of people from Eastern European 
countries to live and work in the borough principally over the first half of the decade. 

4 Not counted as an individually recognised protected characteristic until 2011
5 IBIS

Page 18



Adult disability and health 

One measurement of disability is to look at how people self-reported their household’s state of health in the 
Census 2011.  In particular, it confirmed those households who reported one of more members with a 
limiting long-term illness.

Welwyn Hatfield  England 
Households with one or more person with 
a limiting long-term illness (number) 10,079 5,659,606

Households with one or more person with 
a limiting long-term illness (percentage) 23.1% 25.7%

Households with a limiting long-term illness (Census, 2011)

A further indication of levels of adult disability and health is to identify the percentage of people in the 
borough who claim Disability Living Allowance (DLA); this is the main non-means tested benefit available to 
assist eligible people with a disability to meet their living and care needs.  

Welwyn Hatfield England 
2011 2016 2011 2016

Total number of DLA 
Claimants

2,150 1,840 1,617,390 1,189,940

Claimants:  Males 1,080 950 783,500 594,440
Claimants: Female 1,080 880 833,880 595,520

Disability Living Allowance Claimants in the Borough (ONS DWP 2011 & 2016)

The first table shows that almost one-quarter of all households in the borough identified that they had at 
least one person with a limiting long-term illness in 2011, which may or may not be a recognised disability 
as it is self-assessed.   The second table shows that there has been a significant drop in the overall number 
of DLA claimants in the borough between 2011 and 2016.  

Gender

Measuring the borough’s population by gender between 2011 and 2016 identifies the following data:
Welwyn Hatfield England 

2011 2016 2011 2016
Male 54,364 60,400 26,069,148 27,300,900
Female 56,171 61,600 26,943,308 27,967,100

Resident population in the borough (Census 2011/ONS6 population statistics, 2016)

6 Figures taken from Herts Insight’s figures from mid -year population predictions 2016

Page 19



Probing a bit further we can plot the number of males and females living in the borough by broad age 
range:

Welwyn Hatfield            England 
  2011   2016   2011      2016

Males: Age 0-9   6,520   7,700   3,219,442   3,513,300
Males: Age 10-19   6,917   7,122   3,271,327   3,120,354
Males: Age 20-59 30,677 34,700 14,164,098 14,655,200
Males: Age 60 and over 10,064 11,100 11,832,806   5,928,000

Resident population in the borough – Males (Census 2011/ONS7 population estimates, 2016)

Welwyn Hatfield        England 
  2011  2016    2011    2016

Females: Age 0-9   6,288  7,200 3,071,639  3,344,000
Females: Age 10-19   7,015  7,148 3,204,220  3,045,444
Females: Age 20-59 30,299 34,200 14,303,277 14,692000
Females: Age 60 and over 12,375 13,200 6,430,827  6,885,700

Resident population in the borough – Females (Census 2011/ONS8 population estimates, 2016)

These tables show that there are slightly more females in the borough than males and that the trend has 
been consistent from 2011 through to 2016.  The level of growth appears to be at a similar rate for both 
men and women, up until the age of 60 where there is a higher proportion of females age 60 or over in the 
borough in comparative terms.  These trends appear consistent with the National trend when looking at the 
figures for England 

Age

Population projections show that the proportion of older people in the borough will increase significantly 
over the next 20 years.  The proportion of people aged 65 and above is expected to increase from 16% to 
19.5% of the population of the borough in this period.

Religion

In 2011, over half of Welwyn Hatfield’s population considered themselves to be Christian (57.54%), with 
over one quarter of the remaining population confirming they either did not have a religion or did not state 
one. 

The 2011 Census saw increases from 2001 in the percentage of residents considering themselves to be 
Hindu (1.5% increase) and Muslim (1.4% increase).

7 IBIS
8 IBIS

Page 20



Welwyn Hatfield England 
Christian 57.5% 59.4%
Buddhist 0.8% 0.4%
Hindu 2.5% 1.5%
Jewish 0.8% 0.5%
Muslim 2.5% 5.0%
Sikh 0.3% 0.8%
Any Other Religion 0.5% 0.4%
No Religion 27.9% 24.7%
Religion Not Stated 7.11% 7.2%

Religion stated by the borough’s population (Census, 2011)

Sexual Orientation (Living arrangements, Marital and Civil Partnerships)

Up to date, specific data on sexual identity is not available for any areas lower than regional level so they 
are not reported within this policy.  

Page 21



Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council as an employer

Our council aims to be an organisation where employees are valued and proud to work.  To reinforce this 
commitment the council is developing a new Workforce Strategy.  Our objectives are:

1. One Team -  Working together to deliver excellent services
2. Leading by example - Developing excellent leadership skills
3. A positive and achieving culture – Encouraging positive behaviour and a ‘can do’ attitude
4. Performing at our best – Promoting continuous learning, personal skill development, encouraging 

innovation and celebrating our success
5. Excellent communication and engagement – involving, communicating and listening to our 

employees

At the centre of our approach to people management is our passion to value the diversity of employees and 
promote equal opportunities.

This approach is used in all of our activities as an employer, from recruitment, employee development and 
career progression.  

We carefully monitor employee data so that we can understand how well we are doing and so that we can 
identify where there are issues to suggest that we are not achieving our objectives.

We employee 503 people, covering the equivalent of 374 full time posts.  There are three main 
teams within the council, each reporting to a Director as at 1 August 2018.

Gender

We employee 342 female members of staff and we have 163 male employees.

Age

Our employees can be classified into the following groups:

< 20 21 - 24 25 - 34 35- 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65 + 
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Age bandings of employees

Page 22



Ethnicity

Asian Black Chinese White Not declared
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Ethnicity

Disability

3.36% of the workforce has declared a disability.

Trends and analysis of demographic data for our employee population:

All demographic data is collected by self-declaration.

We recognise that our employee population does not reflect the demographic make-up of the borough in 
relation to ethnicity. This can be partially attributed to the fact that a significant number of people from black 
and minority ethnic communities residing in the borough are students and therefore a largely transitional 
population. 

Data on disability is more difficult to accurately assess, given that this may change during an individual’s 
employment.  Through our sickness management system we are able to prompt employees to tell us where 
they acquire a disability as defined within the legislation, however because this does rely on self-declaration 
we may not always be aware of the complete picture relating to disabilities. 

We regularly monitor our recruitment and retention practices to ensure that these do not create barriers to 
people from any of the protected groups within the local population.

More information on how we support our diverse employee population is included within this equality 
scheme.

Page 23



What does the law say about Equality and Diversity? 

The Equality Act 2010 aims to make society fairer for everyone.  It brings together and strengthens previous 
equality legislation.  The Act was introduced to make equality law simpler to understand and easier to follow.

The Equality Act protects people who come from different groups and communities.  The ‘protected 
characteristics’ covered by the Equality Act 2010 are: age (18+), disability, sex, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief, gender re-assignment and sexual orientation.

The legislation applies to all organisations which provide a service to the public, or sections of the public. It 
also applies to anyone who sells goods or provides facilities. It applies to all services, whether or not a 
charge is made for them.  

The Equality Act 2010 prohibits the following types of discrimination:

Direct Discrimination
This is where someone is treated less favourably than another person because of a protected 
characteristic. This also applies to a person who does not have the protected characteristic 
themselves, but is linked to or associated with someone who does. Direct discrimination also applies 
where a person is wrongly thought to have a particular protected characteristic or is treated as if they 
do.  

Indirect Discrimination
This happens when there is a rule, policy or practice that applies to everyone but disadvantages 
people who share a particular protected characteristic. 

      Harassment
This is where a service provider/employer treats an individual or group of people in a way which 
makes them feel threatened, humiliated or degraded.

Victimisation
Victimisation occurs when someone is treated badly because they have done something in relation 
to the Equality Act, such as making or supporting a complaint or raising a grievance about 
discrimination, or the service provider believes they have done so.  

The Equality Act requires service providers to take positive action

Some people with protected characteristics are disadvantaged or under-represented in some areas of life 
or have particular needs linked to their characteristic.  They may need extra help or encouragement if they 
are to have the same chances as everybody else.  Positive action provisions enable public sector 
organisations to take proportionate steps to help people overcome their disadvantages or meet their 
needs.

Page 24



Public Sector Equality Duty

Welwyn Hatfield Council is required to comply with a Public Sector Equality Duty, introduced as part of the 
Act.  There are two parts to this duty.

General Duty

We must always give consideration to the following three issues when reviewing existing policies and 
services or when planning new ones.  This also applies to staff development and management, such as 
training:

1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality 
Act 2010

2. Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups
3. Foster good relations between people from different groups

Specific Duties
The Act requires public sector authorities such as Welwyn Hatfield Council to fulfil additional ‘specific 
duties’.  The specific duty is all about providing information on its performance to the public.  The 
information (which must be published in a clear, easy to understand format) should include:

1. How we comply with the General Duty
2. How we are assessing our policies and practices to make sure they are non-discriminatory
3. Our Equality Objectives – what we are doing to further the aims of the General Duty
4. How we have consulted with others to achieve the General Duty and to develop our Equality Scheme

Additional duties as a large employer
As an employer with more than 250 employees our council is also required to publish information on 
gender pay, to demonstrate equality in this area.

Understanding the impact of our services and policies on the council’s customers

The Equality Duty requires us to understand how different people are affected by their policies so that they 
are better informed when making decisions about changing policies and developing new policies and 
services.  

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council will ensure that an Equality Impact Assessment is carried out whenever a 
new service or service-related policy is being developed, or existing ones are being reviewed.  Through this 
process we will be able to identify whether people with protected characteristics are likely to be negatively 
impacted and arrangements can then be put in place to manage, reduce or eliminate the negative impact.

We will take into account our different service users when we carry out the annual evaluation of our equality 
actions and make reference to how they have been impacted by the services we provide.

How Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is making the difference 

Our council is a large and diverse organisation, employing around 500 people.  We deliver a large number 
of statutory services including planning, public health, waste collection, environmental and land 
management, homeless prevention and housing advice and private sector property enforcement, to name 
but a few.  In addition we provide many non-statutory services.  We are a landlord responsible for more 
than 10,000 homes and we provide a range of community and leisure services for residents.

We take equality and diversity very seriously.  In 2017 we launched a new Equality Steering Group and 
developed a revised Equality Policy.  Our new Policy sets out our five Equality Objectives.

Page 25



OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES

Our five Equality Objectives reflect our obligations under the Equality Act 2010 as well as our organisational 
priorities and values.

We have developed an Equalities Plan which includes more information on the activities we will carry out to 
achieve our objectives, including which group of stakeholders will be affected.  Our Equalities Plan can be 
found towards the end of this document.

To gain a better understanding of what we need to do as an organisation to help us achieve our equality 
objectives we have consulted with our customers, including local residents, tenants and employees.  We 
have also consulted with partner organisations which represent protected groups and those which deliver 
services in partnership with us or on our behalf.  

The feedback from the consultation has been taken into account when deciding the actions we need to take.     
We have summarized the feedback we received through the consultation, which we have also included at 
the end of this document.

Objective one:

We will lead by example within the community, promoting equality of opportunity and fairness.

To achieve this we will:
 publish our approach to equalities widely
 engage with groups representing people with protected characteristics
 ensure that partners and contractors delivering services on our behalf adopt our principles and 

approach to equalities

Objective two:

We will value and understand the diversity of our communities, for the benefit of our customers and 
all residents of the borough.

To achieve this we will:
 Collect relevant information about our customers so that we can understand more about their needs 

and preferences for services delivery and to help us identify barriers or potential barriers to accessing 
our services.  All information collected will reflect our obligations under the new General Data 
Protection Regulations.

 Act on customer feedback when shaping our services, including information received through our 
complaints process and regular customer surveys.

 Deliver and support local events aimed at raising awareness of diversity and encourage community 
participation.

 Work with employees, local communities and Members to ensure that our valuing of diversity is 
reflected in our local democracy.

Objective three

We will deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services

To achieve this we will:

 Publish and implement a new Customer Service Strategy which sets out our commitment to delivering 
customer-focused services.

 Carry out access audits of all the council’s public sites to identify any potential barriers created by the 
physical environment of our buildings.

 Offer a range of ways for customers to contact us and make sure that council offices and other public 
areas are accessible to people with limited mobility and different sensory abilities.

 Make the most of technology to provide 24/7 access to services and to help enable easy access to 
online services for people with different needs.

Page 26



 Monitor complaints and investigate where there are concerns that people with one or more protected 
characteristic are impacted negatively by our services or lack of service provision.

 Assess the impact of our services and policies on our customers, taking into account the diversity of 
everyone we work with and for.  

 Take a consistent approach to carrying out Equality Impact Assessments and ensure the process is 
clear for employees and simple to implement.  

 Provide training to employees and publish a guidebook which explains how and when they should be 
carried out.  

 Ensure that elected Members understand how to interpret the findings from Equality Impact 
Assessments so that they can make informed decisions on matters relating to changes to policies 
and services and the introduction of new ones.

Objective four:

We will provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a culture of equality within the 
work place

To achieve this we will:

 Have in place a Workforce strategy, setting out how we will attract, recruit and foster an effective and 
diverse workforce, maximising the potential of employees and encouraging people to be best they 
can be.

 Closely and regularly monitor the demographics of our workforce population and work towards 
redressing any disparity between the diversity of our community and our employees.  We will do this 
by ensuring that our recruitment processes are fair and job opportunities are widely advertised.  We 
will ensure that officers involved in the recruitment process are trained and understand the council’s 
approach to equality and diversity so that this is reflected in all recruitment processes.  

 Ensure that the recruitment process is accessible.  
 Make reasonable adjustments for applicants and employees so that they do not face barriers.  

Reasonable adjustments may include the physical elements of our buildings and work spaces, 
adaptations to IT equipment and software and supporting flexible working where it is appropriate to 
do so.  We also have in place provision for employees with caring responsibilities.

 Promote our positive approach to diversity in the work place so that current and potential employees 
are encouraged to participate fully in life as an employee of the council.

 Provide appropriate training to employees and elected Members so that they understand the council’s 
approach to equality and how this translates into service delivery and human resources services for 
all customers and employees.

 Ensure that as far as is possible all corporate policies are aligned so that the council’s commitment 
to equal opportunities is reflected in all areas of work.

Objective five:

We will consult with residents and the community on matters which affect them, taking into account 
the diversity of our borough.  

To achieve this we will:

 Make reasonable adjustments to ensure that there are no barriers to prevent people engaging with 
the council in a way which makes them feel comfortable.

 Encourage people to have their say through a framework of resident and stakeholder consultation 
methods including
 Borough Panel
 Tenants Panel
 Focus Groups
 Specialist Groups facilitated by the council, including the Disability Access Group

 Engage with other organisations through a range of forums including Welwyn Hatfield Alliance and 
other strategic partnerships.

 Participate in relevant groups which operate in the borough, specifically those which meet the needs 
of people with different protected characteristics.

Page 27



 Encourage discussion with groups representing the interests of the diverse communities and facilitate 
their work where practical.

How we consulted on our Equality Scheme 

To gain a better understanding of what we need to do as an organisation to help us achieve our objectives 
we have consulted with residents, employees and other customers of the council who are affected by our 
services.  We have also consulted with partner organisations which represent protected groups and those 
which deliver services in partnership with us or on our behalf.  

We consulted with 991 individuals from external groups and organisations. We received 72 responses, many 
of which gave constructive feedback on how we improve our approach to ensuring equality for our customers, 
staff and partners.

Headline results from the consultation were:

 80% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 1 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 84% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 2 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 85% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 3 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 86% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 5 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

In addition we consulted with staff through the council’s Employee Forum on workplace related matters.

The feedback from the consultation has been used to help us identify which actions we need to take, as set 
out in our Equality Plan.

In the consultation survey we asked respondents:

1. Whether they feel that the actions we are proposing to take against the facing equality objectives 
would help us to meet these objectives.

2. Specific questions relating to each of the five objectives, asking for their views on what else we can 
do as an organisation to help meet the objectives.

Who did we consult with?

For our public facing equality objectives (1, 2, 3 and 5) we engaged with:

Customers (residents, tenants and other service users)
 The council’s Borough Panel
 Youth Council
 11-19 year old youth customer group
 Tenants Panel

Partnerships and working groups
 Homeless Prevention Partnership
 Joint Agency Group
 Landlord Forum
 Community Inclusion Partnership
 Interfaith Group
 Polish Forum
 Cultural Consortium
 Herts Sports Partnership

Organisations
 Citizens Advice

Page 28



 Community and Voluntary Service
 One YMCA
 Herts Action on Disability
 WGC Churches Together Group
 Herts Disability Sports Hub
 Hertfordshire Music Service

Contractors
 Mears Group (contractor)
 TSG Building Services (contractor)
 Sopra Steria
 Serco

For equality objective 4 (employee-related) we consulted with our employee forum which is made up of 
council employees.

Many comments and suggestions were made through the consultation process.  A summary of the comments 
can be found at the end of this document.

The Equality Steering Group has reviewed all of the comments and suggestions made during the consultation 
process.  These have been taken into account in the development of the Equality Plan.

Our Equality Plan

Our Equality Plan sets out what we aim to deliver so that we can achieve all of our equality objectives.  The 
Plan is reviewed by the equality steering group four times a year so that progress can be monitored.  Every 
year progress will be reported to the council’s Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to the council’s 
Cabinet.

Our Equality Plan can be found on the next page.

MONITORING AND REPORTING OUR ACHIEVEMENTS 

We will regularly monitor our progress in achieving the targets set out in our Equality Plan.  Reports will be 
made to the cross-party Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to the council’s leadership group via 
the Executive Member Lead for Equality and Diversity.

Each year we will report on our achievements and be clear where further actions are required.  We will also 
update our Equality Plan for the coming year.

We will publish our annual Equality Report on our website, along with this Equality Scheme and the current 
Equality Plan.

Page 29



[EQUALITY PLAN TO BE INSERTED HERE]

Page 30



We would like to thank everyone who has helped by sharing their views on how we can deliver on 
our equality objectives.

A summary of the comments we received are below:

Objective 1: Lead by example within the community, promoting equality of opportunity and fairness

 Carry out visits within the community to engage with the different communities and groups, 
including schools and colleges, community events, religious centres

 Produce newsletters
 Provide feedback to the public on whether the Equality Policy is being adhered to
 Declare your commitment to equality on the website and reassure people that the equality 

commitment is long lasting
 Use the library to publish information 
 The council’s mission statement should appear on all correspondence
 Celebrate all communities and their different festivals
 Hold events which encourage a better understanding of the diversity in the borough
 Lead on community events
 Hold accessible open days in council offices to promote services and guide people on how 

to access them, including computing, avoiding scams, benefits, how to report repairs and 
plans for providing more affordable housing.

 Promote council information and activities in more public places, including churches, libraries 
and shopping centres

 Use ‘pop up’ stalls to promote your messages
 Publish information on equalities work in the Welwyn Hatfield Times

Objective 2: Value and understand the diversity of our communities for the benefit of our customers 
and all residents of the borough

 Consider older people when providing communication channels – recognise that some older 
people are not able to use the internet 

 Carry out surveys to understand the community
 Identify which communities are less likely to engage with the council and then take steps to 

get in touch with these communities
 Ensure equality is reflected in the council’s planning policies
 Understand that ‘one size does not fit all’
 Be proactive in identifying support requirements
 Ensure that older people are treated fairly and take into account the fact the ‘older’ people 

covers a very wide and diverse group, in age and other factors.

Objective 3: Deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services

 Listen to feedback which people give to the council and then use the feedback to inform 
decisions

 Be reliable and do the things which you commit to doing
 Ensure that contractors comply with the council’s approach to equality 
 Have in place arrangements to monitor contractors
 Ask partners whether they comply with the council’s equality approach and support partners 

to do this where they need assistance
 Treat people the same [fairly], including all service users
 Break down language barriers, taking into account that some people cannot understand 

English
 Ensure that elected councilors treat people fairly
 Offer and promote different ways for people to contact the council

Page 31



 Have local offices where people can meet officers
 Bear in mind that at 24/7 website will not be suitable for everyone
 Make staff available after office hours
 Provide easy access to making complaints, through text messages and online
 Ensure the physical aspect of buildings are able to be accessed
 Offer the option of face to face contact with officers where this is required

Objective 4: Provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a culture of equality within 
the work place

 Train staff in equality processes
 More diversity in the officers and in the workforce management team to include people from 

different groups, including people with disabilities and women
 Regularly remind staff and local employers about the council’s equality policy
 Ensure fair recruitment for everyone
 Ask employees to get involved in asking customers what they think about the council’s 

approach to delivering fair services

Objective 5: Consult with residents and the community on matters which affect them, taking into 
account the diversity of our borough

 Promote activities using leaflets and posters
 Promote activities using social media
 Encourage engagement with groups from different backgrounds
 Contact local clubs and groups  to share information on equality and to advertise events 

which promote equality
 Hold inclusive events for all
 Consult with charities and organisations supporting the poorer wards in the borough so that 

they are included 
 Use SMS text surveys
 Consult more on a ‘face to face’ basis
 Hold open sessions with the community to gain feedback
 Spend time in public places to listen to community feedback
 Work with the police, schools, social services, charities and communities groups to identify 

how more deprived groups can be engaged
 Understand the feedback from the different ethnic groups in the borough – they will not all be 

the same
 Use community ‘drop in’ centres to engage with the community
 Spread community events across all wards
 Have a local panel which people can feed into
 Involve young people through youth groups 
 Provide more activities for young people
 Engage with residents when planning community facilities, including leisure activities 
 Encourage the creation of neighbourhood groups so that you can engage with them
 Support residents in speaking and understanding English

Page 32



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

1

Welwyn Hatfield
Borough Council

Equality Scheme
2018-21

Working better, together

Page 33



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

2

Our Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21 introduces the five key priorities 
for the Borough of Welwyn Hatfield. 

These are:
 Leading by Example within the Community
 Value and Understand our Communities
 Deliver Fully accessible, fair and inclusive Services
 Provide equal opportunities to our employees
 Consult with residents and the community

Each key priority has been broken down into key actions for our Equalities 
Steering Group to manage.

 Leading by Example within the Community

Action By
When

Publish our approach to equalities widely Sept 2018

Engage with groups representing people with protected characteristics Aug 2018

Ensure that partners and contractors delivering services on our behalf adopt our 
principles and approach to equalities Sept 2018

Work with partner organisations and community representatives to monitor the effects of 
Brexit on community cohesion March 2019

 Value and Understand our Communities

Action By
When

Collect relevant information about our customers so that we can understand more about 
their needs and preferences for services delivery and to help us identify barriers or 
potential barriers to accessing our services.

Dec 2018

Act on customer feedback when shaping our services, including information received 
through our complaints process and regular customer surveys. Dec 2018

Deliver and support local events aimed at raising awareness of diversity and encourage 
community participation. March 2019

We will work with employees, local communities and Members to ensure that our valuing 
of diversity is reflected in our local democracy. Oct 2018

Page 34



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

3

 Deliver Fully accessible, fair and inclusive Services

Action By
When

Publish and implement a new Customer Service Strategy which sets out our 
commitment to delivering customer-focused services. Sept 2018

Offer a range of ways for customers to contact us and make sure that council offices 
and other public areas are accessible to people with limited mobility and different 
sensory abilities.

Up to March 
2020

Make the most of technology to provide 24/7 access to services and to help enable 
easy access to online services for people with different needs. Up to 2021

Monitor complaints and investigate where there are concerns that people with one or 
more protected characteristic are impacted negatively by our services or lack of 
service provision.

Oct 2018

Assess the impact of our services and policies on our customers, taking into account 
the diversity of everyone we work with and for. Sept 2018

Take a consistent approach to carrying out Equality Impact Assessments and ensure 
the process is clear for employees and simple to implement.  Provide training to 
employees and publish a guidebook which explains how and when they should be 
carried out.  

Sept 2018

Ensure that elected Members understand how to interpret the findings from Equality 
Impact Assessments so that they can make informed decisions on matters relating to 
changes to policies and services and the introduction of new ones.

July 2018

 Provide equal opportunities to our employees

Action By
When

Have in place a Workforce strategy, setting out how we will attract, recruit and foster 
an effective and diverse workforce, maximising the potential of employees and 
encouraging people to be best they can be.

Oct 2018

Closely and regularly monitor the demographics of our workforce population and work 
towards redressing any disparity between the diversity of our community and our 
employees.  We will do this by ensuring that our recruitment processes are fair and job 
opportunities are widely advertised.  We will ensure that officers involved in the 
recruitment process are trained and understand the council’s approach to equality and 
diversity so that this is reflected in all recruitment processes.  We will ensure that the 
recruitment process is accessible and we will make it clear that we will make 
reasonable adjustments for applicants so that they do not face barriers during the 
application process.

Oct 2018

Page 35



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

4

We will promote our positive approach to diversity in the workplace, including 
providing assurance that we will make reasonable adjustments for employees so that 
they can participate fully in life as an employee of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council.

Oct 2018

Provide appropriate training to employees and elected Members so that they 
understand the council’s approach to equality and how this translates into service 
delivery and human resources services for all customers and employees.

July 2018

Ensure that as far as is possible all corporate policies are aligned so that the council’s 
commitment to equal opportunities is reflected in all areas of work. Oct 2018

 Consult with residents and the community

Action By
When

Make reasonable adjustments to ensure that there are no barriers to prevent people 
participating in a way in which they feel comfortable.

Up to March 
2021

Encourage people to have their say through a framework of resident and stakeholder 
consultation methods including
Borough Panel
Tenants Panel
Focus Groups
Specialist Groups facilitated by the council, including the Disability Access Group

Up to March 
2021

Engage with other organisations through a range of forums including Welwyn Hatfield 
Alliance and other strategic partnerships Oct 2018

Participate in relevant groups which operate in the borough, specifically those which 
meet the needs of people with different protected characteristics.

Up to March 
2021

Encourage discussion with groups representing the interests of the diverse 
communities and facilitate their work where practical.

Up to March 
2021

Work with the Interfaith Group to encourage more schools to get involved with 
Holocaust Memorial day March 2019

Page 36



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 4 September 2018:-

40.2 Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Eligibility Criteria Consultation

The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel on 9 August 2018 on the proposed 
introduction of local eligibility criteria and fees for registration on the 
Register for self-build and custom housebuilding.

The Cabinet noted the results of the public consultation on the proposed 
introduction of a local eligibility test and agreed that local eligibility criteria 
for entry onto the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register be 
introduced to take effect from 31 October 2018.

The Council had a duty to maintain a self-build register for 
people/associations who wanted a serviced plot of land in the Borough to 
build their own home and to grant permission for sufficient land suitable to 
meet demand on the self-build register with performance over a rolling 
three-year period to be reported to the Government.

The Council was allowed to introduce a local eligibility test which looked at 
people’s local connections and financial solvency and a fee to 
enter/remain on the register.

The criteria for the local connection test were residency in the Borough for 
five plus years, close family living in the Borough for ten plus years, 
employed in the Borough for twelve plus continuous months with a 
permanent sixteen hour plus contract or former member of the armed 
forces and the financial test was sufficient resources to purchase a plot of 
land in the Borough.

The Cabinet RECOMMENDS to the Council for approval:-

(1) the introduction of a fee of £25 for new applicants to enter onto the 
register to take effect from 31 October 2018.

(2) the introduction of a fee of £25 for a new association to enter onto 
the register plus £10 for each individual within the association 
excluding the lead individual to take effect from 31 October 2018.

(3) the introduction of an annual fee of £15 for individuals to remain on 
Part 1 of the register to take effect from 31 October 2018.

(4) the introduction of an annual fee of £15 for each association plus 
£10 for each individual within that association to remain on Part 1 
of the register to take effect from 31 October 2018.

(5) That the fees be subject to review twelve months after their 
introduction.

Page 37

Agenda Item 8b



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Julie Spicer/ Bryce Tudball
Executive Member: Cllr Mandy Perkins
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 9 AUGUST 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

SELF BUILD AND CUSTOM HOUSEBUILDING ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 
CONSULTATION 

1. Executive Summary

1.1 The Council (as a relevant authority) has a duty to maintain and publicise a Self-
build and Custom Housebuilding Register for (a) individuals and (b) associations of 
individuals, who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority’s area 
for their own Self-build and Custom Housebuilding. Linked to this, the Council has a 
duty to grant permission for sufficient land suitable for Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding to meet the demand on the register. 

1.2 Under Regulation 5 (2) of the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 
2016, the Council may introduce a local eligibility test, including local connection 
and financial solvency criteria; and a fee for applicants to be entered onto and 
remain on the register.

1.3 On 5 October 2017 the Council’s Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel agreed to 
consult on the introduction of a local connection and financial resources test, with a 
view to this being introduced alongside the existing statutory eligibility criteria. In 
addition, the panel noted a draft proposal for a fee to be introduced for applicants to 
enter onto and remain on the register. 

1.4 A six week public consultation on the proposed introduction of a local eligibility test 
took place from 17 May 2018 to 29 June 2018. This report summarises the 
responses received to the consultation and makes recommendations as to the 
adoption of local eligibility conditions. 

1.5 In addition, following further consideration of the registration process, officers have 
developed a final proposal for the fee to be charged for applicants to enter onto and 
remain on the register.  A separate recommendation is made in regard to the 
introduction of this fee. 

Page 39



- 2 -

2. Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that:

2.1 The Panel considers the results of the public consultation on the proposed 
introduction of a local eligibility test as set out at paragraphs 4.7 to 4.8 of this report 
and Appendix A..

2.2 The Panel agrees to recommend to Cabinet the introduction of local eligibility 
criteria for entry on to the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register, proposed 
to take effect from 31 October 2018, as set out at paragraphs 4.16 to 4.17 of this 
report.

2.3 The Panel agrees to recommend to Cabinet for approval by Full Council the 
introduction of a fee of £25 for new applicants to enter onto the register, as set out 
in paragraphs 4.24 to 4.28 of this report, proposed to take effect from 31 October 
2018.

2.4 The Panel agrees to recommend to Cabinet for approval by Full Council the 
introduction of a fee of £25 for a new association to enter onto the register plus £10 
for each individual within the association excluding the lead individual, as set out in 
paragraphs 4.24 to 4.28 of this report, proposed to take effect from 31 October 
2018.

2.5 The Panel agrees to recommend to Cabinet for approval by Full Council the 
introduction of an annual fee of £15 for individuals to remain on Part 1 of the 
register, as set out in paragraphs 4.29 to 4.31 of this report, proposed to take effect 
from 31 October 2018.

2.6 The Panel agrees to recommend to Cabinet for approval by Full Council the 
introduction of an annual fee of £15 for each association plus £10 for each 
individual within that association to remain on Part 1 of the register, as set out in 
paragraphs 4.29 to 4.31 of this report, proposed to take effect from 31 October 
2018.

3. Background

3.1 The Council (as a relevant authority) has a duty1 to maintain and publicise a Self-
build and Custom Housebuilding Register for (a) individuals and (b) associations of 
individuals, who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority’s area 
for their own Self-build and Custom Housebuilding. The Council must have regard 
to the Register when carrying out its functions relating to:

 Planning;
 Housing;
 The disposal of any land of the authority; and
 Regeneration.

3.2 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding is defined in the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) as:

“… the building or completion by (a) individuals, (b) associations of individuals, or 
(c) persons working with or for individuals or associations of individuals of houses to 

1 In accordance with the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (the Act), as amended

Page 40



- 3 -

be occupied as homes by those individuals. But it does not include the building of a 
house on a plot acquired from a person who builds the house wholly or mainly to 
plans or specifications decided or offered by that person.”2

3.3 Consistent with the relevant Act and Regulations, since 1 April 2016 the Council 
has publicised and maintained a register of individuals and associations of 
individual who wish to acquire serviced plots of land to bring forward Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding projects in the borough. The Register was formerly hosted 
externally on the Local Self Build Register website but in May 2017 a decision was 
taken to bring the hosting of the register in-house. A bespoke registration system is 
currently being designed to support the Council to deliver its duties. Registration is  
via the Council’s website: http://www.welhat.gov.uk/selfbuild  

3.4 On 31 October 2016, The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016 
came into force3. One effect of the legislative updates was to introduce a duty on 
local authorities to grant permission for sufficient land suitable for Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding to meet the demand for plots as evidenced by the number of 
entries on their register (measured in ‘base periods’) within 3 years. Alongside this, 
the opportunity was introduced for relevant authorities to set a local eligibility test 
(including local connection and financial solvency criteria); and a fee for applicants 
to be entered onto and remain on the register. 

3.5 Local eligibility tests means a set of conditions:

 The authority reasonably considers is necessary to demonstrate that an 
individual has sufficient connection with the authority’s area, a local connection 
test (with certain provision being made for persons in the service or previously 
in the service of the regular armed forces); and

 A financial solvency test whereby applicants would need to demonstrate that 
they have ‘sufficient resources’ to purchase land in the borough for their own 
self-build and custom house building project.

3.6 National Planning Policy Guidance states that it is for each local authority to 
determine the specific conditions that they will set. In designing a local connection 
test, the NPPG advises that relevant authorities may wish to consider criteria based 
on residency, having a family member residing in the local area and / or having an 
employment connection to the local area. In designing a financial solvency test, 
relevant authorities may wish to assess whether the applicant can afford to 
purchase the land required for their self-build project.

3.7 On 5 October 2017 officers presented to the Council’s Cabinet Parking and 
Planning Panel setting out proposals to consult on local eligibility conditions and to 
introduce a fee for applicants to enter onto and remain on the Register. The Panel 
agreed that the proposed eligibility conditions should be made available for a six 
week period for consultation and that officers would report the results of the 
consultation back to the Panel, together with a schedule of any recommended 
changes as considered appropriate. The Panel noted the draft proposal for a fee to 
be introduced and that a final proposal would be developed by officers and brought 
before it alongside the results of the consultation. 

2 Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Chapter 2, Section 9) had the effect of amending the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 : http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/section/9/enacted
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/105/contents/made

Page 41

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/selfbuild
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/section/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/105/contents/made


- 4 -

4. Explanation

4.1 Local eligibility criteria consultation: National Planning Policy Guidance states 
that local authorities should consider consulting on their proposed eligibility criteria 
although there is no statutory requirement to do so. In accordance with this advice, 
Welwyn Hatfield have carried out a six week public consultation on the introduction 
of the proposed local eligibility criteria and a financial resources test. The purpose 
of this was to obtain the views of interested parties on the proposals, to consider the 
responses received and to decide whether to adopt local eligibility tests and, if so, 
what form these should take.  The public consultation took place from 17 May 2018 
to 29 June 2018. 

4.2 The consultation was publicised in Issue 14 of the Council’s Local Plan Newsletter, 
which on 16 May 2018 was sent to 4,910 residents, businesses and key 
stakeholders registered on the Council’s Local Plan database. The consultation was 
also advertised in the Welwyn Hatfield Times and the Hertfordshire Mercury and a 
press release was prepared. 

4.3 The consultation: The consultation set out the Council’s proposed local connection 
and sufficient resources to purchase land criteria. 

4.4 In order to be eligible to enter into the Register, the consultation form set out that 
applicants would be required to meet one or more of the following four criteria and 
to be able to demonstrate this with appropriate documentary evidence.

i) Residency: To meet this criterion an applicant must have lived in Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough continuously for 5 years or more. 

ii) Family Connection: To meet this criterion an applicant must have close 
family (such as parents, siblings or children) who, on the date of their 
application to enter the Register, reside in the borough and have done so 
continuously for 10 years or more

iii) Employment: To meet this criterion an applicant must have been working in 
Welwyn Hatfield borough continuously for 12 months or more on the date of 
their application to enter the Register and have a permanent employment 
contract for 16 hours or more per week

iv) Armed Forces: The regulations make provision for existing members of the 
armed forces. In order to be eligible to enter the Register, former members of 
the regular armed forces would need to have left no more than 5 years ago.

4.5 In order to be eligible to enter the Register the consultation also set out that 
applicants must have access to sufficient financial resources to purchase land in 
Welwyn Hatfield borough for their own Self-build and Custom Housebuilding project 
and would be required to demonstrate this with appropriate documentary evidence.

4.6 The consultation form asked general questions about whether respondents agreed 
with each criterion, more specific questions in some cases, and a free form box was 
provided for consultees where they did not agree so that they could propose 
changes and explain why these were necessary. 

4.7 Consultation responses: One response was received to the consultation. This is 
summarised in Appendix A to this report. The respondent suggested that the 
introduction of local eligibility tests in Welwyn Hatfield could be contrary to 

Page 42



- 5 -

European legislation. Specifically, the response questioned the legality of 
introducing a local connection test requiring applicants wishing to join the Register 
to demonstrate that they have sufficient connection with the local area.  The 
respondent referenced the ”Flemish case” which was tested in the European Courts 
and referred to the experience of various Councils in Ireland with the use of local 
connection requirements in relation to decisions on planning applications

4.8 Having regard to the fact that the response raised a legal point, and in accordance 
with advice from the Council’s Head of Law and Administration, Counsel opinion 
was sought. The conclusion was that the representation does not raise any issues 
which prevent the adoption of a local connection test. The use of a local connection 
test is explicitly sanctioned by both primary and secondary legislation. Further, a 
person’s presence on the register is not a material planning consideration for the 
purposes of determining an individual planning application. This situation is 
therefore plainly distinguishable from the cases that the representation drew 
attention to.  

4.9 Justification for local eligibility criteria:  The Self-build and Custom Build 
Register is used by the Council to assess the demand in the borough for serviced 
plots of land for people to build their own home. The Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
places a legal duty on local authorities to keep a Register of individuals and 
associations of individuals who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the 
authority's area for their own self-build or custom housebuilding. The local planning 
authority has a legal duty to grant sufficient development permission for enough 
serviced plots of land to meet the demand for Self-build and Custom Housebuilding, 
(based on the number of entries on Part 1 of the Register) under Section 10 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016.

4.10 Local Authorities who choose to set a local connection test are required to have two 
parts to their Register. Individuals or associations of individuals who apply for entry 
on the Register and meet all the eligibility criteria must be entered on Part 1. Those 
who meet all the eligibility criteria except for a local connection test must be entered 
on Part 2 of the Register. 

4.11 The duty to grant planning permission only applies to entries on Part 1 of the 
Register. The Council has to have due regard to Part 2 of the Register but does not 
have a duty to grant planning permission.

4.12 There is a high probability that the current number on the Register (312 as at 24 
July 2018) represents an overestimate of the true demand for self-build plots in the 
borough. The Council is aware of numerous individuals who have registered their 
interest for self-build in multiple local authority areas. On the basis that these 
individuals are only likely to be seeking one self-build plot this would result in a 
major overstatement of need at a regional/national level. Individual authorities are 
then impacted by having to plan for an inflated amount of self-build plots. 

4.13 The introduction of a local connection test will support the Council to reach a more 
informed view of the true demand for self-build plots in the borough. Similarly the 
introduction of a financial resources test will help ensure that the Register reflects 
true demand. 

4.14 Given the challenge of meeting the borough’s Objectively Assessed Need for 
housing, and the scarcity of non-Green Belt land for housing in the borough, it is 
considered wholly reasonable that the Council’s evidence relating to the demand for 

Page 43



- 6 -

provision of serviced plots should be as robust as possible. This in turn will help 
ensure that the scale of development permissions issued by the Council under its 
duties (set out in para 4.12) are broadly consistent with true demand for serviced 
self-build plots in the area.

4.15 Without the introduction of the local eligibility criteria proposed in this report, the 
Council may be in the position of having to ensure the provision of sufficient plots of 
land to meet the apparent demand from entries on the Register, which may be 
substantially over-inflated by applicants registering within a number of local 
authority areas or who may not have the financial means to purchase a plot of land 
should one become available. 

4.16 Introduction of local eligibility criteria: Officers have reviewed the proposed local 
eligibility criteria following the consultation and, in light of no objections and the 
criteria still being considered appropriate, propose to introduce the local connection 
criteria, with effect from the next base period, commencing on 31 October 2018. 
Applicants would have to meet one or more of the following criteria:

i) Residency: To meet this criterion an applicant must have lived in Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough continuously for 5 years or more.

ii) Family Connection: To meet this criterion an applicant must have close 
family (such as parents, siblings or children) who, on the date of their 
application to enter the Register, reside in the borough and have done so 
continuously for 10 years or more

iii) Employment: To meet this criterion an applicant must have been working in 
Welwyn Hatfield borough continuously for 12 months or more on the date of 
their application to enter the Register and have a permanent employment 
contract for 16 hours or more per week

iv) Armed Forces: The regulations make provision for existing members of the 
armed forces. In order to be eligible to enter the Register, former members of 
the regular armed forces would need to have left no more than 5 years ago.

4.17 Financial Resources: In order to be eligible to enter the Register applicants must 
also have access to sufficient financial resources to purchase land in Welwyn 
Hatfield borough for their own Self-build and Custom Housebuilding project and 
would be required to demonstrate this with appropriate documentary evidence.

4.18 Part 1 and Part 2 of the Register: Local Authorities who choose to set a local 
connection test are required to have two parts to their Register. Individuals or 
associations of individuals who apply for entry on the Register and meet all the 
eligibility criteria must be entered on Part 1. Those who meet all the eligibility criteria 
except for a local connection test must be entered on Part 2 of the Register. It is 
intended this will take effect from 31 October 2018 the Register will be divided into 
Part 1 and Part 2 in order to coincide with the base periods. 

4.19 Eligibility for Part 1 of the Register: The introduction of local eligibility and fee 
conditions, means that individuals or each member of an association will now be 
eligible for entry into Part 1 of the Register if that individual or each member of an 
association:

a) Is aged 18 or over;

Page 44



- 7 -

b) Is a British citizen, a national of an EEA State other than the United Kingdom, or 
a national of Switzerland; 

c) Is seeking (either alone or with others) to acquire a serviced plot of land in the 
relevant authority’s area for their own Self-build or Custom Housebuilding; and 
must

d) Satisfy the local eligibility conditions, including the local connection test and a 
financial resources test set by the council; and

e) Has paid the fee required to be entered onto or remain on the Register (see 
paragraphs 4.20 to 4.32 below)  

4.20 Eligibility for Part 2 of the Register: Applicants who do not meet the local 
connection test criteria will not be denied entry to the Register. Providing they meet 
the basic eligibility criteria of age, nationality and the intention to build their own 
home, they will be eligible for entry onto Part 2 of the Register. However, regard 
must still be paid to the applicants who are entered onto Part 2 of the Register.

4.21 Those entries already on the Register are exempt from the local connection test 
and will remain on Part 1 of the Register subject to them confirming their continued 
interest and paying the fee to remain on the Register, regardless of whether they 
would meet the additional criteria. 

4.22 Fee to enter onto and remain on the Register: Regulations4 now enable local 
authorities to charge a fee in respect of the Register. A person may be charged:

a) To be entered on the Register for a base period or part of a base period;

b) Thereafter, on an annual basis, to remain on that register irrespective of whether 
any fee was charged to be entered on the register.

4.23 Fees must be set on a cost recovery basis only. The amounts charged must be 
publicised and must be proportionate, reflecting genuine costs incurred and should 
not act as a deterrent for people to be entered on or remain on the Register. If an 
application is unsuccessful, any fee that has been paid must be returned.

4.24 Fee to enter onto the Register: Applications to enter the Register are made 
through a registration portal on the Council’s website (through the use of an 
application form for associations). If the existing eligibility criteria is met, a 
notification is generated. The Council is then notified of new applicants and officers 
review the information provided in order to decide if applicants can be added onto 
the register. The Council does not (as a general rule) verify declarations, however, 
officers do from time to time, carry out further investigations where it is considered 
the need arises. However the addition of the local eligibility tests will add to the cost 
of administering the Register.

4.25 Officers have reviewed the process for administering applications to join the register 
in light of the proposed local eligibility tests. Having regard to the estimated time 
taken to register a new individual and the average cost per hour of the officers 
responsible for the process, the total cost of the registration process for individuals  
is estimated at £25. It is therefore proposed that a £25 fee should be chargeable in 

4 The Town and Country Planning, England – The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) 
Regulations 2016

Page 45



- 8 -

respect of new applications to enter the Register (both Part 1 and Part 2).  It is 
proposed that the fee will come into effect from 31 October 2018. 

4.26 Fees charged by other authorities currently range from £16 to £350 to enter the 
Register (Part 1 and Part 2). Some (but not all) charge a smaller fee if the applicant 
is eligible to enter Part 2 of the Register (given that authorities need only have 
regard to Part 2 of the Register and the duty under S2A of the Act does not apply).

4.27 Applications to join the self-build register may be submitted by both individuals and 
associations. Applications from associations could contain a considerable number 
of applicants to assess (e.g. a recent application was submitted seeking land for 
1,000 self-build plots). To ensure that the Council covers its reasonable costs it is 
proposed that a £25 fee will be charged for a new association to enter onto the 
register plus £10 for each individual within the association excluding the lead 
individual. 

4.28 The proposed introduction of fees for applicants to enter the Register was not 
subject to public consultation, as it is on a cost recovery basis only.

4.29 Fee to remain on the Register: It is proposed that individuals who are on Part 1 of 
the Register will be required to pay an annual fee of £15 to remain on the Register, 
payable on the anniversary of their registration. The fee of £15 will apply to 
associations on the Register and £10 for each individual within that association.

4.30 The regulations do not allow for applicants who are entered onto Part 2 of the 
Register to be charged an annual fee to remain on the Register.

4.31 The fee will be chargeable upon the first anniversary of their registration or on 31 
October 2018 if they have already been on the Register for a period of a year or 
longer.  

4.32 Justification for introducing fees: The principle benefit of introduction fees will be 
to enable the Council to recover its reasonable costs for administering the Register.  
It is considered that introducing a fee will have a number of ancillary impacts: 

 It should help to ensure that only applicants who are genuinely interested in a 
project in Welwyn Hatfield apply in the first instance – this would help to 
ensure that the Register is a better reflection of true demand and of the need 
to grant suitable development permission to meet that demand;

 Introducing a fee to remain on Part 1 of the Register, would allow the Council 
to undertake an annual re-registration process. Applicants who are no longer 
seeking a plot of land in the borough or have subsequently decided not to 
pursue a self-build project are unlikely to pay a fee to remain on the Register. 
The authority may remove an entry from the register if it considers that an 
individual (or any member of an association) is no longer eligible for entry in 
the register. 

4.33 Monitoring of fees: The recommended fees for entering onto and remaining on the 
Register are best guess estimates based on the experience of administering the 
registration process to date. Officers will monitor the registration process once local 
eligibility tests are implemented. If an increase in fees is required to ensure 
reasonable cost recovery a report will be brought back to Members seeking 
authorisation to increase the fees. 

Page 46



- 9 -

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The local eligibility criteria for new applicants joining the Register will apply from 31    
October 2018, subject to approval by Cabinet.

5.2 The fees set out in Section 4 above will apply from 31 October 2018 subject to 
agreement by Full Council.

6. Link to Corporate Priorities

6.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021, 
particularly:

 Priority 3 – Meet the borough’s housing needs; 

 Priority 4 - to help to build a strong local economy; 

 Priority 5 - engaging with our communities and provide value for money.

7. Legal Implication(s)

7.1 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding is governed by primary legislation, the Self-
build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (the Act), as amended by the Housing 
and Planning Act 2016, and secondary legislation set out in Regulations.

7.2 Subsequent to the introduction of the Act, Regulations came into force on 1 April 
2016. The Housing and Planning Act (May) 2016 then made a set of changes to the 
Act. Subsequently, on 31 October 2016, two new sets of Regulations came into 
force. One set of Regulations had the effect of revoking the earlier April 2016 
Regulations. National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was issued in April 2016 
and was updated on 28 July 2017.

7.3 The Council must have regard to the Register when carrying out its functions 
relating to:

 Planning;
 Housing;
 The disposal of any land of the authority; and
 Regeneration.

7.4. In light of the representation received to the consultation of local eligibility conditions 
Counsel Opinion was sought. This representation and the Counsel response is 
summarised in paragraphs 4.7 and 4.8. The conclusion of Counsel was that the 
representation does not raise any issues which prevent the adoption of a local 
connection test. The use of a local connection test is explicitly sanctioned by both 
primary and secondary legislation. 

8. Financial Implication(s)

8.1 Adoption of fee and future implications: The Council may now set a fee on a 
cost recovery basis. Officers have assessed the estimated costs likely to be 
associated with maintaining and managing the Register. It is recommended that the 
set of local eligibility conditions set out in section 4 of this report be applied as part 
of the application process, together with the introduction of the following scale of 
fees:

Page 47



- 10 -

 For individuals to be entered on the Register: £25;

 For associations to be entered on the Register: £25 plus £10 for each 
individual within the association excluding the lead individual;

 For individuals to remain on Part 1 of the Register: £15 per annum (to be 
charged on the anniversary of the first registration date or 31 October 2018 if 
the individual has been on the register a year or longer).

 For associations to remain on the Register: £15 per annum plus £10 for each 
individual within the association excluding the lead individual. 

8.2 The proposed fees will allow for the estimated recovery of the costs to the council of 
administering the Register and will also help to ensure that only people with a 
genuine commitment to building their own home in the borough join the Register.

8.3 The proposal is that on-line payments can be made as part of the registration 
process (initially for individuals only as the applications for Associations are more 
complex and applications are made using a downloadable application form). For 
fees to be charged as part of the renewal process, all those already registered will 
need to be contacted by email on an annual basis. 

8.4 The fees charged will however be reviewed periodically in light of experience of 
operating the registration system. If monitoring indicates that the fees proposed no 
longer covers the Council’s reasonable costs, then Members will be advised 
accordingly with a view to seeking authorisation to increase the fee.

9. Risk Management Implications

9.1 If the Council does not grant sufficient suitable development permissions to meet 
the demand in any one base period, then the Council will fail to meet its Duty. 
However, if action is not taken to introduce local eligibility conditions together with a 
fee to join the Register, then there is a strong possibility that demand may be over-
stated and in discharging its duty, the Council may deliver more planning 
permission that the true level of local demand.  

9.2 The introduction of the local eligibility criteria together with the payment of a fee is a 
new process which has not been tested in conjunction with the registration process. 
A revised on-line registration process will need to be designed and implemented (in 
partnership with Steria), which may pose a risk to the proposed timetable for 
introducing the new criteria and fee.

10. Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

10.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising directly as a result of this 
report.

11. Procurement Implication(s)

11.1 There are no procurement implications arising directly as a result of this report.

12. Climate Change Implication(s)

12.1 There are no climate change implications arising directly as a result of this report.

13. Policy Implications

Page 48



- 11 -

13.1 Policy SP 7 of the submitted Local Plan states that:

Self-build and Custom Housebuilding: Strategic Development Sites SDS1 (WGC4), 
SDS2 (WGC5), SDS5 (Hat1) and SDS6 (Hat15) should make provision for a 
proportion of serviced plots of land to contribute towards meeting the evidenced 
demand for Self-build and Custom Housebuilding in the borough. Serviced plots of 
land for Self-build and Custom Housebuilding will also be supported on other 
allocated sites or permitted windfall sites where overall, this would not result in an 
over-provision of this type of Housebuilding when compared to the Council's 
supply/demand evidence.

13.2 Self-build is currently exempt from planning obligations or CIL payments to cover 
infrastructure costs or the provision of affordable housing. 

14. Equality and Diversity

14.1 The proposal to introduce local eligibility conditions was subject to an initial 
Equalities Impact Assessments (EIAs) at screening stage. No unjustified negative 
impacts were identified at that time and no issues have been identified through 
public consultation. A full assessment is not considered to be necessary.

Julie Spicer/Bryce Tudball
Planning Policy and Implementation
24 July 2018

Appendices

Appendix A: Table of responses to public consultation on Welwyn Hatfield proposed local 
eligibility criteria. 

Background Papers

 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015
 Housing and Planning Act 2016
 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations (Register) 2016
 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (Time for Compliance and Fees) 

Regulations 2016

Page 49

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/105/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1027/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1027/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 Table of responses to public consultation on Welwyn Hatfield proposed local eligibility criteria

Question 1. Residency

Comments Main issues Changes sought Council response
Introduction of a local connection test could 
be contrary to EU law. 

Last year, in Ireland, it was ruled that local 
planning regulations that gave any sort of 
preference to locals was most likely to be in 
breach of well-established legal precedent.  
Many counties in Ireland have subsequently 
removed their “Local Connection” 
requirement from planning applications.
 
Has the Council WH considered the “Flemish 
Case” and, if so, why does it feel able to 
introduce a local connection test in light of 
this ruling.  
 

The introduction of local eligibility tests in 
Welwyn Hatfield could be contrary to 
European legislation. 

None stated The Council has sought 
Counsel advice in relation to 
the issue raised. The 
conclusion was that the 
representation does not raise 
any issues which prevent the 
adoption of a local connection 
test. The use of a local 
connection test is explicitly 
sanctioned in England by both 
primary and secondary 
legislation. Further, a person’s 
presence on the register is not 
a material planning 
consideration for the purposes 
of determining an individual 
planning application. This 
situation is therefore plainly 
distinguishable from the cases 
that the representation drew 
attention to. 

P
age 51



Question 2. Family Connection

Comments Main issues Changes sought Council Response
None received

Question 3. Employment

Comments Main issues Changes sought Council Response
None received

Question 4. Armed Forces

Comments Main issues Changes sought Council Response
None received

Question 5. Financial Resources

Comments Main issues Changes sought Council Response
None received

P
age 52



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

Recommendation from the Cabinet on 4 September 2018:-

44. Introduction of General Procurement Board:

The terms of reference for the new General Procurement Board previously 
appointed by the Cabinet were considered.

The terms of reference of this new Standing Board would be listed in the 
section on Responsibility for Executive Functions in Part 3 of the 
Constitution.

The Cabinet agreed to the Terms of Reference for the General 
Procurement Board and RECOMMENDS to the Council that the 
Constitution be accordingly amended where necessary.

Page 53

Agenda Item 8c



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Margaret Martinus
Executive Member: Cllr Duncan Bell
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET – 4 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

INTRODUCTION OF GENERAL PROCUREMENT BOARD

1 Executive Summary

1.1 Cabinet at its meeting on the 5 June 2018, in deciding to establish a member 
procurement board for the re-procurement of the council’s pest control contract, 
agreed that this should be done through a new General Procurement Board 
(GPB). The GPB would oversee all future member procurement boards and have 
sight of all major procurements of the council.

1.2 This was to ensure that members had an overall scrutiny of major procurements 
and ensure that there is no delay to the procurement process. The process 
should also be made more efficient by reducing the number of standalone 
member procurement boards, as the major procurements come through. 

1.3 This report seeks agreement for the terms of reference for the GPB as set out at 
Appendix 1 of this report.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Cabinet agree to the draft Terms of Reference for the General Procurement 
Board as set out in Appendix 1 of this report. 

2.2 That Cabinet recommends to Council that the council’s Constitution is 
accordingly amended where necessary.

3 Explanation

3.1 Currently there is a process of establishing Member led procurement boards for 
all projects over £100,000. Whilst this process involves Members in the 
procurement process, it does not allow a light touch approach to some of the 
smaller procurement projects nor an overall strategic overview of ongoing major 
projects.

3.2 The establishment of the GPB will enable strategic Member overview and 
involvement in  major procurements, without causing any delay to procurement 
process.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 None directly associated with this report

Page 55



- 2 -

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 None directly associated with this report

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 Although there are no risks directly associated with this report, each procurement 
will be subject to a risk assessment through the tender process

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 None directly associated with this report

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 As detailed in this report 

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None directly associated with this report

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority to
Engage with our communities and provide value for money.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report 

Name of author Andrew Harper
Title Procurement Manager
Date 19th July 2018

Appendices to be listed 

Appendix 1:

 Terms of Reference
 Membership
 Meeting Schedule 

Page 56



- 3 -

Appendix 1

General Procurement Board (GPB)

Terms of Reference 

1. The GPB will consider the level of Member involvement for all contracts with a total 
value of £100,000 or more – these being the contracts that have to be agreed by 
Cabinet.

2. The procurement manager, with the input of the service manager will provide a brief 
report to the GPB outlining the scope of the contract, especially detailing any direct 
public interface as well as the proposed duration, estimated value and likely 
procurement route.

3. The GPB, with the input of the Portfolio Holder for the service and Vice Chairman of the 
GPB, will consider if :
a) the project will be monitored by the GPB 
b)  a specific Member Procurement Board (MPB) should be established for the 

project.
c) the project will have no member involvement (except for consideration of award 

by Cabinet)

4. If there is a decision to set up an individual Member Procurement Board, then Cabinet 
should consider this and nominate representatives and agree the terms of reference for 
that MPB.

5. If the procurement is monitored by the GPB they will:
a) Agree the evaluation criteria for all stages.
b) Receive a tender evaluation report.
c) Agree the recommendation to Cabinet on award of contract.
d) Provide a strategic overview over relevant procurements and make any 
necessary recommendations to Cabinet.

6) If availability for meetings is likely to cause delay to the process, decisions can be made 
by exchange of e mails between all relevant parties

Membership of the GPB:
7 Councillors:

 Chairman: Portfolio Holder  for relevant Service contract (this is a rotating role)
 Vice-Chairman Portfolio Holder  for Procurement 

The GPB will be supported by the following officers:

 Executive Director – Public protection, planning and governance
 Head of Law and Administration or a legal representative
 Procurement Manager
 Service Manager for contract
  Governance Services Officer

Meeting Schedule
 Initially  - as required

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 1
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BROROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

Recommendation from the Standards Committee held on 3 September 2018:-

SURVEILLANCE UPDATE 2018

The Standards Committee received an update on the Council’s policy and use of 
surveillance powers.  The Council had powers to investigate a range of criminal 
offences and like all local authorities it could utilise powers to undertake surveillance 
to assist with those investigations in certain prescribed circumstances.

It was noted that since the last inspection there had been one investigation and 
magistrates had granted the authorisation for surveillance.

The Committee accepted the revised policy and RECOMMENDS to the Council that it 
be adopted and that the Constitution be updated to designate the Licensing Team 
Leader as an additional ‘Authorising Officer’ for the purposes of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000, as amended.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9a



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Nick Long 
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 3 SEPTEMBER 2018 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

SURVEILLANCE UPDATE 2018 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides Members with an update on the Council’s policy and use of 
surveillance powers. Members are asked to note the use of surveillance powers 
and to agree the revised policy in appendix A.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For Committee to note the use of surveillance powers, agree the revised policy in 
appendix A and to recommend to the Full Council that it is adopted and that the 
Constitution is updated to designate the Licensing Team Leader as an additional 
“Authorising Officer” for the purposes of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act (RIPA), as amended. 

3 Explanation

3.1 The Council has powers to investigate a range of criminal offences and like all 
local authorities is able to utilise powers to undertake surveillance to assist with 
those investigations in certain prescribed circumstances. 

3.2 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (as amended) sets out the strict 
framework under which the council may use surveillance powers. The powers 
available to the council are: 

a) Directed covert surveillance which is not intrusive 

b) Covert human intelligence sources 

c) Communications data 

3.3 The use of these powers is governed by the requirements of law and the 
council’s own policy. Powers cannot be used without the agreement of a 
designated “authorising officer” and the approval of a magistrate. In all cases the 
powers can only be used to investigate a specified offence and must be shown to 
be necessary and proportionate to the circumstances.   

3.4 The Council Constitution designates the Senior Responsible Officer and the 
Authorising Officers and it is recommended that the Licensing Team Leader is 
now also designated as an “authorising officer”.  It is also timely to make a 
number of updates to the policy document as shown in appendix A, in order to 
keep it up to date. 

3.5 Committee are therefore asked to note the revisions to the policy, and agree that 
it is sent to Full Council to be adopted.

Page 61



- 2 -

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA), as amended by the 
Protection of Freedoms Act sets out the regulatory regime by which the council 
may use certain surveillance powers to investigate certain specified offences. 
There are strict controls in place and the council is unable to undertake any 
“covert surveillance” outside of this regime. Failure to comply with the legislation 
could result in legal challenge or challenge on the admissibility of evidence in 
Court. 

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 None, budgets are in place for the provision of training for relevant officers 

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal relate to legal challenge and reputation for 
example a court case collapsing owing to evidence collected through surveillance 
being ruled inadmissible. However there are strict controls in place to govern the 
approval of any surveillance authorisations and the council is not able to carry 
out covert surveillance outside of the RIPA regime. Additionally a staff training 
programme is in place and Heads of Service are asked to ensure relevant staff 
attend the training programme. RIPA is included as part of the management 
assurance statements which help comprise the annual governance statement 
and the council is periodically audited by the Office of Surveillance 
Commissioners. An assessment of risk is therefore considered as impact: high, 
probability: low 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 The RIPA regime is used by the council to assist with the investigation of certain 
criminal offences. In addition the council will work as required with the police and 
other partners to facilitate the prevention, detection and investigation of crime.  

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 None

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None 

10 Health and wellbeing implications 

None directly arising from the report 

11 Communications and engagement 

The nature of any covert surveillance undertaken by the council is by definition 
covert and not in the public domain. However for public confidence and 
transparency it is important that the council shares its adopted RIPA policy and 
once updated this policy will be republished on the council’s webpage.  

Page 62



- 3 -

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities “our 
community”, “our environment”, “our housing” and “our council” and the statutory 
provisions under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA), as amended

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An Equality Impact screening assessment has not been carried out in connection 
with the proposals that are set out in this report as RIPA is an enforcement tool 
and an EQIA was carried out in connection with recent revisions to the corporate 
enforcement policy.

Nick Long 
Corporate Director, (Public Protection, Planning and Governance)
July 2018  

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 12

Version September  2018

Welwyn Hatfield Council 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

As amended by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012

1. Introduction

The Council is committed to working for the overall good of the people 
of Welwyn Hatfield.  In carrying out its duties the Council may need to 
conduct appropriate investigations into allegations or concerns brought 
to its attention.  Occasionally, our investigations will require us to 
gather information in respect of individuals who may be unaware of 
what we are doing (through covert surveillance).  In conducting our 
investigations we need to draw a fair balance between the public 
interest and the rights of individuals.  In order to achieve that balance, 
the Council will take into account and comply with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) (as amended) and the Human 
Rights Act 1998.  This policy therefore sets out the Council’s approach 
to covert surveillance issues falling within the framework of RIPA in 
order to ensure consistency, balance and fairness.  This information 
will provide additional protection and safeguards where these covert 
activities are likely to cause us to obtain what is termed “Private 
information” about individuals or where we go “under cover” in certain 
circumstances.  This policy also makes it clear to the general public 
what checks and balances will apply.

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance and a framework for 
the Council’s activities under the Act in relation to their specific public 
functions.

The Office of the Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) both advises the 
Council and members of the Public about these issues and the OSC 
also periodically audits and inspects the way in which Local Authorities 
including the Council work in accordance with the Act.  The Council 
was last inspected in February 2016 and received a favourable report. 

The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 amended RIPA to make local 
authority authorisations subject to judicial approval. The change means 
that the Council need to obtain an order approving the grant or renewal 
of an authorisation from a judicial authority, before it can take effect. An 
application for such an order must be made to a Justice of the Peace 
(JP) also known as a Magistrate.  If the JP is satisfied that the statutory 
tests have been met and that the use of the technique is necessary 
and proportionate, he or she will issue an order approving the grant or 
renewal for the use of the technique described in the application.  The 
amendment means that the Council is no longer able to orally authorise 
the use of RIPA techniques.  All authorisations must be made in writing 
and require JP approval.  The authorisation cannot commence until this 
has been obtained and the activity must be carried out in accordance 
with that authorisation. 

Page 65



Page 2 of 12

Version September  2018

2. Definitions

The essential key to understanding the way that RIPA works is to 
understand the definitions used within it.  Awareness as to whether a 
proposed action comes within RIPA is critical in establishing whether 
authorisation needs to be sought, if any and at what level.

There are three categories of covert activity:

a) Intrusive surveillance – This is covert and carried out in relation to 
anything taking place on any residential premises or any private 
vehicle.  It involves a person on the premises or in the vehicle or is 
carried out by a surveillance device.  Except in cases of emergency, 
it requires OSC approval.  The power is available only to Law 
enforcement agencies.  Intrusive surveillance cannot be 
undertaken by the Council. 

b) Directed surveillance - This is covert surveillance but not intrusive 
surveillance.  It is undertaken for a specific investigation or 
operation in a way likely to obtain private information about an 
individual.  It must be necessary and proportionate to what it seeks 
to achieve.  It may be used by a wide range of authorities identified 
in the legislation including the Council. 

Local authorities in England & Wales can only authorise use of 
directed surveillance under RIPA to prevent or detect criminal 
offences that are either punishable, whether on summary conviction 
or indictment, by a maximum term of at least six months 
imprisonment or are related to the underage sale of alcohol and 
tobacco. Local authorities CANNOT authorise directed surveillance 
for the purpose of preventing disorder unless this involves a 
criminal offence(s) punishable (whether on summary conviction or 
indictment) by a maximum term of at least six months 
imprisonment.

Local authorities may therefore continue to authorise the use of 
directed surveillance in more serious cases as long as they are 
satisfied that it is necessary and proportionate and prior approval of 
a JP has been granted.  Examples would include more serious 
criminal damage, dangerous waste dumping and serious or serial 
benefit fraud.

A local authority MAY NOT AUTHORISE the use of directed 
surveillance under RIPA to investigate disorder that does not 
involve criminal offences or to investigate low level offences for 
example, littering, dog control and fly-posting. 

Page 66



Page 3 of 12

Version September  2018

CCTV and automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) cameras

The use of overt CCTV cameras by public authorities does not 
normally require an authorisation under the Act. Similarly, the overt 
use of ANPR systems to monitor traffic flows or detect motoring 
offences does not require an authorisation.

However, where overt CCTV or ANPR cameras are used in a 
covert and pre-planned manner as part of a specific investigation, 
for the surveillance of a specific person or group of persons, a 
directed surveillance authorisation should be considered.  Such 
covert surveillance is likely to result in the obtaining of private 
information about a person (a record of their movements and 
activities) and therefore falls within the definition of surveillance. 
The use of ANPR or CCTV in these circumstances goes beyond 
their intended use. 

Online covert activity

The use of the internet may be required to gather information prior 
to and /or during an operation, which may amount to directed 
surveillance.  Whenever a public authority intends to use the 
internet as part of an investigation, they must first consider whether 
the proposed activity is likely to interfere with a person’s Article 8 
rights, including the effect of any collateral intrusion. Any activity 
likely to interfere with an individual’s Article 8 rights should only be 
used when necessary and proportionate to meet the objectives of a 
specific case.  Where it is considered that private information is 
likely to be obtained, an authorisation must be sought as set out in 
this policy. Where an investigator may need to communicate 
covertly online for example for contacting individuals using social 
media websites, a CHIS authorisation should be considered.

c) Covert human intelligence sources – Known as CHIS.  This is 
the use or conduct of someone “undercover” that establishes or 
maintains a personal or other relationship with a surveillance 
subject for the covert purpose of obtaining information.  An 
Authorising Officer must be satisfied that the CHIS is necessary, 
that the conduct authorised is proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved and that arrangements for the overall management and 
control of the undercover officer are in force.  CHIS may be used by 
a wide range of authorities identified in the legislation again 
including the Council. CHIS authorisations will not normally be 
granted owing to the threshold test of necessary and proportionality 
.

It is legally possible for councils to also undertake elementary 
communications interception, but in reality (and on advice from 

Page 67



Page 4 of 12

Version September  2018

inspecting officers) like CHIS the Council does not see this tool as 
relevant to our investigatory work. 

Other definitions which can be usefully explained are:

d) Overt surveillance – to paraphrase the legal definition, this covers 
all situations where surveillance is not covert.  Overt surveillance 
does not require authorisation under RIPA.

e) Surveillance – The monitoring, observing or listening to persons, 
their movements, their conversations or their other activities or 
communications or recording anything monitored, observed or 
listened to in the course of surveillance and includes surveillance by 
or with the assistance of a surveillance device i.e. Camera, Video 
Recorder.

f) Private information needs to be interpreted in line with the 
European Court for Human Rights explanation of private life which 
includes business and professional activities

3. Codes of Practice

Whilst this policy is intended to provide an overview of RIPA and its 
relevance to this Council, detailed codes of practice are available from 
the Home Office.  Officers likely to conduct surveillance and 
Authorising Officers should ensure they are familiar with these codes.  
The codes are not themselves law but they are statutory guidance, 
citable in a court of law and any deviation from them will require to be 
justified. Failure to comply with the code carries the risk that valuable 
and often critical evidence may be ruled inadmissible by courts.  It is 
suggested that all relevant staff should be aware of these codes which 
can be found on the Home Office website at 
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-
investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/ 

Electronic versions of the application forms can also be downloaded from 
this site. Investigating officers are responsible for ensuring that they are 
using the most up to date forms.

4. Conducting covert surveillance and using CHIS in accordance 
with the Act.

It is the responsibility of the investigating officer/case officer to determine if 
surveillance techniques may be appropriate to aid investigation. They 
should have early discussions with a RIPA authorising officer to ascertain 
if RIPA authority is required. Where a RIPA authority cannot be issued 
then the case officer is responsible for ensuring that overt surveillance 

Page 68

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-investigatory-powers/ripa-forms/


Page 5 of 12

Version September  2018

techniques are used or that no surveillance takes place. It is council policy 
that covert surveillance will only take place with a RIPA authority in place. 

In determining whether a RIPA authority is required the case officer will 
need to explain to the authorising officer whether the offence which is 
under investigation: 

a) Carries a minimum tariff of at least 6 months imprisonment 
or 

b) Is a specified offence relating to the sale of alcohol
or 

c) Is a specified offence relating to the sale of tobacco
d) And that covert surveillance is necessary and proportionate to the 

matter under investigation
e) And that there are no alternative means of obtaining the evidence

A RIPA authority can only be considered in regard to the prevention of 
crime relating to the above offences (or for disorder if it also meets one of 
the above definitions). Blanket authorisations covering “crime and 
disorder” are not allowed.   

Once it has been decided that there is a need for covert surveillance or an 
undercover exercise, express authorisation needs to be obtained.  The 
case officer will need to complete the relevant parts of the authorisation 
form and  the Council will have appropriately trained officers who will need 
to complete the authorising officers statement on the forms depending on 
the activity sought to be authorised. The case officer and authorising 
officer must make sure they show why the surveillance is necessary and 
proportionate on the form. Sufficient detailed information must be 
provided, including for example the “who, what, when, where and hows” of 
the authorisation. It must be clear as to who has been authorised to do 
what, when they can carry it out and how they are to undertake the 
surveillance. 

The Council currently have Four trained officers who may authorise 
investigations. (Authorising Officers)  These are: (see also note below 
regarding confidential information)

 Nick Long  – Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) and Senior Responsible Officer 
 01707 357401 n.long@welhat.gov.uk

 Joanna Harding – Head of Public  Health and Protection
 01707 357361 jo.harding @welhat.gov.uk

 Ian Colyer – Principal Governance Officer
 01707 357413 i.colyer@welhat.gov.uk

 Kate Payne, Licensing Team Leader 
01707 357206 k.payne@welhat.gov.uk

Page 69

mailto:i.colyer@welhat.gov.uk


Page 6 of 12

Version September  2018

In general authorisation should be sought punctually and in advance of the 
activity constituting the covert surveillance or use of CHIS.  Wherever possible 
the circumstances of the case should be discussed with the authorising officer 
in order for a reasoned decision as to whether surveillance or CHIS is 
necessary and whether alternative means of obtaining information has been 
considered.

In cases where through the use of surveillance it is likely that confidential 
information will be acquired, the use of surveillance is subject to a higher level 
of authorisation.  This responsibility cannot be delegated.  The code of 
practice sets out the required level of authorisation for local authorities as the 
Head of Paid Service (At Welwyn Hatfield this is the Chief Executive) or in his 
absence a Director acting as Head of Paid Service.  Confidential information 
consists of:

 Matters subject to legal privilege as described in section 98 of the 
Police Act 1997.

 Personal information being information held in confidence concerning 
an individual (living or dead) who can be identified from it and who can 
be identified from it and relating to physical or mental health, spiritual 
counselling or other assistance or information which a person has 
acquired or created in the course of any trade, business, occupation or 
for the purposes of any paid or unpaid office.

 Confidential journalistic information which includes information 
acquired or created for the purposes of journalism and held subject to 
an undertaking to hold it in confidence. 

It should be noted that recent changes to the legislation brought about by the 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 mean that an authorisation for surveillance 
can only be brought into effect once it has been approved by a JP/Magistrate.  
Application for such approval must only take place once one of the council’s 
appointed authorising officers has signed off the application for surveillance. 

The case officer and authorising officer will need to attend court having 
completed the necessary court application form and telephoned the court in 
advance to arrange a hearing. It is generally not good practice or appropriate 
to just turn up at the court house without prior agreement. 

The JP/Magistrate will perform a paperwork review and this is why it is 
important that all relevant material is contained in the RIPA application. It will 
not be possible to introduce any additional evidence outside the content of the 
RIPA form. 

The JP/Magistrate may grant the application, may choose to refuse it (in 
which case amendments can be made and a new application submitted) or 
quash the application. 

Page 70



Page 7 of 12

Version September  2018

A RIPA application authorised by a local authority cannot take effect until 
judicial approval has been given. This may be different to other agencies who 
use RIPA so care must be taken when running joint operations. 

The council’s legal team will arrange for access to a JP/Magistrate and in 
exceptional circumstances this could be arranged out of hours/outside of a 
court location. 

5. Undertaking surveillance

Investigating officers of the Council should bear in mind the following:

 Covert surveillance or CHIS should only be undertaken for as long as it 
is needed for the purpose for which it is authorised. Surveillance should 
not be undertaken for longer periods than absolutely necessary. In 
short, surveillance should only be undertaken for as long as it is 
required to obtain the necessary information.

 Officers should seek to reduce any collateral intrusion into the lives and 
business of the subject and also the subject’s family, colleagues or 
associated third parties.

 The amount of private information received during the course of 
surveillance should be kept to a minimum.

 Adequate safety and welfare checks have been carried out prior to the 
use of CHIS.  Where the CHIS is not an employee of the Council or 
has not received sufficient training for this work, the officer in charge of 
the surveillance should have put in place measures to ensure that 
assistance is close at hand should this be required.

 All officers should act diligently and professionally regarding their own 
and colleagues safety and the safety of any surveillance equipment at 
their disposal.

6. Surveillance equipment

Council officers conducting surveillance must endeavour to use equipment 
at their disposal in a responsible and discrete manner.  Officers should be 
aware that the use of any equipment is restricted to being used in a 
manner that constitutes covert surveillance only.  If there is a risk that the 
use of such equipment will transform the operation into an intrusive one 
then the surveillance should cease immediately.

Upon the cessation of surveillance officers should ensure that any 
equipment is properly checked upon its return to storage.  This should 
include condition and to ensure that material that could fall into the 
possession of unauthorised staff is removed.  An example of this is the 
removal of video tapes that may contain images used for evidence.

If any faults are detected with the equipment this should be brought to the 
attention of the authorising officer as soon as possible.  Under no 
circumstances should the authorising officer seek to rectify any faults as 

Page 71



Page 8 of 12

Version September  2018

this could affect the admissibility of the evidence contained on the 
equipment or obtained by using it.

7. Authorising Officers

When deciding whether or not authorisation is warranted in a particular 
circumstance the Authorising Officer has to ask three relevant questions:

a. Is the surveillance for a relevant offence?

b. Is the surveillance necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting 
crime or preventing disorder?  In this context necessary means that 
there is no other way of obtaining the information other than by covert 
surveillance, i.e. all other investigatory tools and options have been 
exhausted or are wholly inappropriate

c. Is the conduct of the surveillance proportionate to its aim? In this 
context proportionality requires consideration of 

 Balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against 
the gravity and extent of the perceived crime or offence

 Explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause 
the least possible intrusion on the subject and others

 Considering whether he activity is appropriate use of the 
legislation in a reasonable way having considered all reasonable 
alternatives of obtaining the necessary result

 Evidencing as far as reasonably practicable what other methods 
have been considered and why they were not implemented. 

In simple terms can the objective of the surveillance be important 
enough to justify the interference with an individual’s liberty and 
privacy?

The Authorising Officer should also consider the means of surveillance 
and whether this is the most appropriate in the specific circumstances. 
Does it minimise intrusion into an individual’s private life and is it a 
workable method of obtaining information?

Authorising Officers should keep the scope of the authorisation to a 
minimum i.e. sufficient authorisation to gather the required information 
but nothing more.  The Investigating Officer must be made fully aware 
of the limits of the authorisation. 

Page 72



Page 9 of 12

Version September  2018

There is an automatic Three month restriction on the grant of any 
directed surveillance authorisation.  Further authorisation will need to 
be sought for periods over this in the form of a renewal application.  If a 
short sharp operation is envisaged then the correct procedure is to 
grant the authorisation for 3 months but to schedule an appropriate 
early review and to cancel the authorisation as soon as it is no longer 
necessary or proportionate. 

8. Review

Whilst the initial authorisation may be valid for up to three months, if 
the Authorising Officer considers that a review should be carried out 
before this time then this should be carried out.

9. Renewals

Authorising Officers may renew applications to conduct surveillance 
(Including oral reviews in the case of emergencies) and renewals will 
last for a further three months from the date of the original authorisation 
terminating.

Authorising Officers should note that changes in circumstances to 
particular cases and any effects that such changes would have on the 
need for surveillance or the nature of it should be carefully considered.  
In all cases a note should be made on the renewal form whether it is a 
first or subsequent renewal.

10.Cancellation of Authorisation

Before an authorisation lapses, it must be reviewed by the Authorising 
Officer and cancelled where appropriate rather than letting an 
authorisation lapse.  It is of paramount importance that all officers 
involved in the surveillance are made aware of the cancellation.

Officers who continue to conduct surveillance once it is brought to their 
attention that it is no longer authorised may be liable to disciplinary 
proceedings.  Potential court action could also be taken against officers 
by any party affected by unauthorised surveillance.
   

11.Authorisation forms

The case officer must ensure they have the latest version of the forms. 
These can be obtained from the home office website.

The initial authorisation form and any renewals will be kept by the 
authorising officer for the duration of the authorisation.  A unique 
reference number will be allocated by the Senior Responsible Officer.  

Page 73



Page 10 of 12

Version September  2018

Upon the cessation of the authorisation forms should be sent to the 
Council’s Senior Responsible Officer for safe custody.

Forms will be stored for a period of three years from the date of the 
authorisation ceasing.  Forms may be recalled by the Authorising 
Officer or by the officer applying for authorisation if for example the 
investigation has restarted.  Any removal of forms must be 
accompanied by the completion of a log sheet indicating when the form 
was removed and by whom.
Any officer who removes forms will be responsible for the safe keeping 
of those forms. Disciplinary action may be taken against officers who 
do not comply.
Under no circumstances must the forms that have been removed be 
altered or amended in any way.  Again disciplinary action may be taken 
for non-compliance.
Forms may be electronically scanned and stored for the sake of 
practicality.

12.General Information

This policy is a public document and is available for public inspection at 
the Council’s main offices at Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire AL8 6AE.  The document is also available on the Council 
website at www.welhat.gov.uk
The policy will be reviewed from time to time.

13.Complaints

RIPA has established an independent Tribunal made up of senior 
members of the judiciary and legal profession and is independent of 
the Government.

Complaints by members of the public, surveillance subjects or others 
which relate to any aspect of surveillance carried out by Council 
officers will be dealt with as follows:

 The complainant will be directed to the Council’s Complaint 
procedure and will be given a copy of the standard complaint 
form.

 If the complainant is still not satisfied they have the right to 
complain to the Investigatory Powers Tribunal, PO Box 33220, 
London SW1H 0ZQ Tel: 020 7035 3711 https://www.ipt-uk.com/

Additionally dependent on the nature of the complaint the complainant 
may also be put in touch with the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. https://www.lgo.org.uk/  telephone 0300 061 0614

14.Training and review. 

Page 74

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/


Page 11 of 12

Version September  2018

The council will arrange for Authorising officers to receive training. 
Where relevant and necessary in the conduct of their jobs, Heads of 
Service are responsible to ensure a training programme for their staff 
which covers use of RIPA and authorisation requirements for covert 
surveillance. The Authorising Officers can assist with this training. The 
Authorising Officers will periodically review the corporate training needs 
regarding RIPA and the promotion of good surveillance practice. 

15.Oversight by elected members

Elected members of a local authority should review the authority’s use 
of RIPA and set the policy at least once a year.  They should also 
consider internal reports on the use of RIPA on a regular basis to 
ensure that it is being used consistently with the local authority’s policy 
and that the policy remains fit for purpose.

16.Record Keeping

A record of the following information pertaining to all authorisations 
shall be centrally retrievable within each public authority for a period of 
at least three years from the ending of each authorisation.  At the 
Council this will be held by the Director (Public Protection, Planning 
and Governance) who is the Council’s Senior Responsible  Officer. 
This information will be regularly updated whenever an authorisation is 
granted, renewed or cancelled and will be made available for 
inspection by the relevant commissioner.

 The type of authorisation
 The date the authorisation was given
 Name and grade of the Authorising Officer
 The unique reference number of the investigation
 The title of the investigation including a brief description and 

names of subjects
 Details of attendances at the magistrates court to include the 

date of attendance at court, the determining magistrate, the 
decision of the court and the time and date of that decision

 The dates of any reviews
 If the authorisation has been renewed, when it was renewed 

and who authorised the renewal including the name and grade 
of the Authorising Officer

 Whether the investigation is likely to result in obtaining 
confidential information as defined in the code

 Whether the authorisation was granted by an individual directly 
involved in the investigation

 The date the authorisation was cancelled

The following documentation will also be held centrally:

Page 75



Page 12 of 12

Version September  2018

 A copy of the application and a copy of the authorisation 
together with any supplementary documentation and notification 
of the approval given by the authorising officer

 A record of the period over which the surveillance has taken 
place

 The frequency of reviews prescribed by the Authorisation Officer
 A record of the result of each review of the authorisation
 A copy of any renewal of an authorisation together with any 

supporting documentation submitted when the renewal was 
requested

 The date and time when any instruction to cease surveillance 
was given

 The date and time when any other instruction was given by the 
authorisation officer

 A copy of the order approving or otherwise the grant or renewal 
of an authorisation from a JP/Magistrate 

The Council will ensure that arrangements are in place for the 
secure handling, storage and destruction of material obtained 
through the use of directed or intrusive surveillance. Authorising 
Officers will be responsible for ensuring compliance with the 
appropriate data protection requirements under the Data Protection 
Act 2018 , The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 and any 
relevant codes of practice relating to the handling and storage of 
material. 

Page 76



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Ka Ng
Executive Member: Cllr Duncan Bell
Hatfield South West Ward

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SPECIAL CABINET – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

HIGH VIEW DEVELOPMENT

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The council is working in partnership with Lovell to deliver a £45 million 
regeneration programme in High View, which will transform the heart of South 
Hatfield.

1.2 The proposed High View development aims to deliver an attractive local centre to 
bring people to live, work and visit the area.  Subject to planning approval, it is 
set to deliver around 150 new homes (including houses and flats), new 
commercial units and a new local health centre.

1.3 The project is currently at the detailed design stage and Lovell has asked 
whether the council would wish to provide an additional fire protection measure 
to the flats by installing a sprinkler system.

1.4 The purpose of this report is for Members to consider the way forward, taking into 
account the financial implications and the relevant regulations.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Cabinet approves the installation of a sprinkler system for the flats contained in 
the High View development for the reasons outlined in this report and subject to 
consideration by Council on the required budgetary provision.

2.2 Cabinet recommends to Council that an additional capital budget of £207,000 is 
added to the High View Development Programme to enable the installation of a 
sprinkler system.

3 Explanation

3.1 The High View neighbourhood shopping parade was originally built in the 1950s, 
it was faced with an increasing number of problems such as ageing buildings and 
public open space.  Following a procurement process, Lovell was selected as the 
developer for delivering high-quality new shops, homes and other improvements 
at High View.

3.2 Lovell is currently working on the detailed design as part of the planning 
application for the regeneration scheme.  In particular, the detailed layouts of the 
residential element is currently being worked on.  They have specifically asked if 
the council would like Lovell to install a sprinkler system to the flats before 
progressing any further with the design of the layout.

3.3 The installation of sprinklers is not a mandatory requirement for this project in 
accordance with the current regulation and that Lovell is expected to design the 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



- 2 -

scheme in compliance with all the building regulations and fire safety measures 
that are required.  However, in light of the Grenfell Tower tragedy, there has 
been an increase in public attention on the fire safety in residential buildings and 
the council would need to give due consideration in the interest of public safety. 

3.4 If the council approves the decision to install sprinklers in the new flats of the 
High View development, subject to final design, Lovell will be expected to:

 Design the residential sprinkler systems in accordance with Approved 
Document B, and BS 9251:2014 “Fire sprinkler systems for domestic and 
residential occupancies. Code of practice”

 All ground floor flats shall be served directly from the mains, as per the 
incoming domestic water supply.  These ground floor flats would each need 
their own dedicated flow switch valve set.  From the sprinkler control valve 
set, a pipe will run through the flat to serve all relevant rooms within.  
Sprinkler heads will be installed within the required rooms in accordance with 
BS9251:2014.

 All flats on upper floors are to be served from domestic cold water by a 
boosted supply, served from a break tank. The proposed sprinkler system 
branch off from the boosted cold water pipe at each level. This will effectively 
be a separate sprinkler system to each floor, with a dedicated sprinkler 
control set.  From each sprinkler control set, a pipe will be run through the 
corridors and branched off to the apartments. Sprinkler heads will be installed 
within the required rooms in accordance with BS9251:2014. 

3.5 Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety

3.5.1 Following the Grenfell Tower tragedy, the Government commissioned an 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, which was led by 
Dame Judith Hackitt.  The purpose was to make recommendations that would 
ensure a sufficiently robust regulatory system for the future and that residents 
feel that the buildings they live in are safe and remain so.

3.5.2 The final report was published by Dame Hackitt in May 2018, however the new 
regulatory framework recommended in the report does not require the installation 
of sprinklers as mandatory for new buildings.

3.6 National Fire Chief Council (NFCC)

3.6.1 The NFCC states that sprinklers are the most effective way to ensure that fires 
are suppressed or even extinguished before the fire service can arrive. They 
save lives and reduce injuries, protect firefighters who attend incidents and 
reduce the amount of damage to both property and the environment from fire. 

3.6.2 During 2017/18, the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) and the National Fire 
Sprinkler Network (NFSN) have worked together to investigate the effectiveness 
and reliability of sprinkler systems. The evidence produced indicates that 
sprinkler systems operate on 94% of occasions demonstrating very high 
reliability. Furthermore, it is evident that when they do operate they extinguish or 
contain the fire on 99% of occasions and are thus very effective. The research 
also found that in both converted and purpose built flats that sprinklers are 100% 
effective in controlling fires. 

Page 78



- 3 -

3.6.3 It is believed that the NFCC was disappointed that sprinklers was not made as an 
explicit requirement in Dame Hackitt’s report.

3.7 Whilst the installation of sprinklers is not a mandatory requirement, they do 
provide additional safeguarding and can save lives as well as protecting property 
in the event of a fire.

3.8 It should also be noted that fire sprinkler systems are expensive and difficult to 
retro fit into an existing building. Complications arise due to building fabric, and 
the building will inevitably be occupied and works would have to be carried out 
during evenings, weekends or closure periods.  

3.9 Given that fire sprinkler systems have a proven track record in saving lives, and 
that the most cost effective way to install the system would be to incorporate this 
at the design stage.  It is therefore recommended that they will be installed in the 
flats as part of the High View Development.  

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 All the buildings must be built in compliance with the relevant building 
regulations, however there is no legal requirement to install sprinklers in the new 
buildings under the current regulations. 

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The cost of the installation of a sprinkler system is estimated to be £1800 per flat.  
The total cost for 115 flats is estimated to be £207,000 and that a new capital 
budget of this amount will need to be added to the High View programme.

5.2 Officers will be discussing the payment profile for the additional cost with Lovell 
and it is possible that part of the additional cost will fall into the next financial 
year.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

6.2 The government may impost further fire protection measures to new buildings.  
Likelihood Medium, Impact Medium.  The installation of sprinklers are hoped to 
future proof some of the design measures.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 None arising directly from the recommendation in this report.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 Lovell was appointed by the council as the developer of High View development 
following an OJEU competitive dialogue process.  

Page 79



- 4 -

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None arising directly from the recommendation in this report.

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 None arising directly from the recommendation in this report 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 The recommendation of this report seeks to add extra protection to residents in 
the event of a fire.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 Lovell has recently held a number of Public Exhibition events as part of the High 
View development, and there will be a further event prior to the submission of the 
planning application later this year.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities, Our 
Community and Our Economy, and specifically to the achievement of safe 
communities and regeneration. 

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies.

Name of author Ka Ng
Title Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
Date 9th September 2018 

Page 80



- 1 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL* held on 
Wednesday 5 September 2018 at 3.30pm at the Council Offices, Welwyn Garden City. 

* Reporting to Council

PRESENT: C. Novelli
P.Raynsford
D.Tabraham-Palmer

OFFICIALS Chief Executive (R.Bridge)
PRESENT: Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) (N.Long)

Legal Services Manager (F.Hussain)
Governance Services Manager (G.R.Seal)

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN:

The Panel continued with the previously agreed arrangement not to appoint a 
Chairman.

2. WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME:

2.1. Review of the Scheme

The report of the Chief Executive sought recommendations from the Independent 
Remuneration Panel on a review of the level of allowances to be paid to Members 
for 2018/19 with effect from 1 July 2018 plus the introduction of a new Care 
Allowance.

(1) Members Basic and Responsibility Allowances

The current level of payments set out in the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 
2017/18 is attached at Appendix A and the proposed level of payments for 
20187/19 is attached at Appendix B.

If the level of basic allowance and special responsibility allowances were 
increased by 2% as recommended in the report in line with the national 
agreement for staff, the additional cost was estimated to be £ 7,110. The 
estimated additional cost in 2018/19 could be offset by a saving in special 
responsibility allowances because there were two Lead Members last year and 
none had been appointed this year and as certain Members held more than one 
office and the Scheme provided that they would receive only one special 
responsibility allowance being the highest of the allowances due. The cost of the 
recommended increases could therefore be contained within the current overall 
annual budget of £355,750.

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 11



- 2 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

The Panel discussed the special responsibility allowance for Chairmen of the   
Overview and Scrutiny Committees and agreed that the existing level of 
allowance remained compatible with the current role and duties of the posts.

Since the review by the Panel of the level of allowances for 2013/14, it had 
adopted the convention to recommend annual increases in line with the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services annual employee pay 
award and this approach had been agreed by the Council. 

Before then allowances had been frozen since 2008/09.     

In 2016 the Panel revisited the increases in allowances recommended by the 
review previously undertaken by an independent consultant in 2009 and agreed 
increases to move towards the Hertfordshire median rates.  

(2) Care Allowance  

The Panel had previously agreed with the recommendation made in the 
independent consultant’s review to introduce a care allowance at a rate of 
£6.00 per hour for children and £10.00 per hour for adults. This 
recommendation had not been taken up, but it remained open to the Council to 
do so.

The Liberal Democrat Group had requested that this recommendation now be 
reconsidered by the Panel as part of this year’s review and this had been 
supported by the Leader of the Council.

The cost of this would depend on take-up which had not been quantified and 
was currently unknown. It was expected however that take-up would be limited 
and on this basis the cost was likely to be able to be met within the existing 
budget in 2018/19 because of the savings in special responsibility allowances, 
but this would need to be monitored. 

The Panel agreed to recommend to the Council the introduction of a new Care 
Allowance as previously recommended and now requested in the interests of 
facilitating all Members to carry out their duties effectively and equitably. 

The Panel reviewed the rate identified in 2009 together with criteria for payment 
in line with some comparative information received from other local authorities.

The Panel agreed to recommend to the Council that maximum hourly rates of 
£7.83 for childcare for children up to 14 years of age and £11.83 for dependent 
care could be claimed with a cap of 20 hours per week for official duties defined 
as attendance at evening meetings of the Council, Committees (to include 
Cabinet, Committees, Panels and Boards) and Outside Bodies where the 
Member was the Council’s appointed representative.      

The allowance would be administered on the basis that claims must be 
supported by a valid receipt and submitted on the Member Monthly Expenses 
Form to the Governance Services Manager which would be updated 
accordingly. Payments to other members of the household would be excluded.

Page 82



- 3 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

The operation of the allowance and the rates payable would in future form part 
of the Panel’s annual review.  

The Panel’s recommendations would be submitted to the Council meeting on 
19 September 2018 for consideration.

Recommendations

(1) That the Panel recommends to the Council that the proposed level of 
Members’ Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances to be paid with 
effect from 1 July 2018 be as set out in Appendix B attached and that no 
other changes be made.

(2) That the Panel recommends to the Council that a Care Allowance be 
introduced with effect from 20 September 2018 as set out in Appendix C 
attached.

Meeting ended 4.15pm
          GS

Page 83



- 4 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

Appendix A
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME

1. ENQUIRIES

1.1. Enquiries about allowances may be addressed to Graham Seal, Governance 
Services Manager (01707) 357444.

2. BASIC ALLOWANCE

2.1. Basic allowance is payable at a flat rate to all elected Members of the Council.

2.2. If a councillor is elected to or leaves the Council during the year, basic 
allowance will be paid pro-rata for the proportion of the year during which the 
councillor has been a serving Member of the Council.

2.3. With effect from 1 July 2017, basic allowance will be paid at the rate of £5,051 
per annum. Payment will be made in monthly instalments of £420.92.

3. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE (SRA)

3.1. The Council has authorised the following payments in addition to Members’ 
basic allowance: -

Per Annum (£)
2017/18

Monthly (£)
2017/18

Leader of the Council 15,152 1,262.66
Deputy Leader 10,605 883.75
Cabinet Member 9,676 806.33
Lead Member 3,884 323.66
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 4,499 374.92
Chairman of Development Management Committee 5,051 420.92
Chairman of Hackney Carriage Committee 3,884 323.66
Chairman of Cabinet Panel 3,884 323.66
Chairman of Audit Committee 3,801 316.75
Chairman of Liquor and Regulated
Entertainment Licensing Committee 3,884 323.66
Leader of First Opposition Group 5,788 482.33
Leader of Second Opposition Group 1,888 157.33
Chairman of Standards Committee 2,040 170.00
Mayor 6,277 N/A
Deputy Mayor 1,570 N/A

Page 84



- 5 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

Appendix B

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME

2. ENQUIRIES

3.2. Enquiries about allowances may be addressed to Graham Seal, Governance 
Services Manager (01707) 357444.

4. BASIC ALLOWANCE

4.1. Basic allowance is payable at a flat rate to all elected Members of the Council.

4.2. If a councillor is elected to or leaves the Council during the year, basic 
allowance will be paid pro-rata for the proportion of the year during which the 
councillor has been a serving Member of the Council.

4.3. With effect from 1 July 2018, basic allowance will be paid at the rate of £5,152 
per annum. Payment will be made in monthly instalments of £429.33.

5. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE (SRA)

5.1. The Council has authorised the following payments in addition to Members’ 
basic allowance: -

Per Annum (£)
2018/19

Monthly (£)
2018/19

Leader of the Council 15,455 1,287.91
Deputy Leader 10,817 901.41
Cabinet Member 9,869 822.41
Lead Member 3,961 330.08
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 4,588 382.33
Chairman of Development Management Committee 5,152 429.33
Chairman of Hackney Carriage Committee 3,961 330.08
Chairman of Cabinet Panel 3,961 330.08
Chairman of Audit Committee 3,877 323.08
Chairman of Liquor and Regulated
Entertainment Licensing Committee 3,961 330.08
Leader of First Opposition Group 5,739 478.25
Leader of Second Opposition Group 2,288 190.66
Chairman of Standards Committee 2,080 173.33
Mayor 6,402 N/A
Deputy Mayor 1,601 N/A

Page 85



- 6 -
Independent Remuneration Panel
5 September 2018

                                                                                                       Appendix C

                                      WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
 

CARE ALLOWANCE 

This allowance may be claimed against the cost of child (up to 
age of 14 years) or dependent adult care that a Member may 
incur whilst they are on official duties defined as attendance 
at evening meetings of the Council, Committees (to include 

Cabinet, Committees, Panels and Boards) and Outside Bodies 
where the Member is the Council’s appointed representative.

The following rates may be claimed:-

Childcare - Maximum of £7.83 per hour

Dependent Care – Maximum of £11.83 per hour 

A maximum of 20 hours per month may be claimed. Claims 
must be supported by a valid receipt. Payments to other 

members of the household will be excluded. Claims should be 
made to the Governance Services Manager monthly on the 

official claim form provided. 

Page 86



- 1 -

Part I
Item No: 3
Main author: Graham Seal
For Recommendation

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL – 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report seeks a recommendation from the Independent Remuneration Panel 
on a review of the level of allowances to be paid to Members for 2018/19 with 
effect from 1 July 2018.

2 Financial Implications

2.1 The current level of payments set out in the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 
2017/18 is attached at Appendix A and the proposed level of payments for 
20187/19 is attached at Appendix B.

2.2 If the level of basic allowance and special responsibility allowances are increased 
by 2% as recommended in this report in line with the national agreement for staff, 
the additional cost will be £ 7,110.  This will be offset by a saving in special 
responsibility allowances of £7, 768 as there were two Lead Members last year 
and none have been appointed this year plus £2080 as the Leader of the Council 
is Chairman of the Standards Committee. The cost of the increase can therefore 
be contained within the current overall annual budget of £355,750.

3 Background 

3.1 Since the review by the Panel of the level of allowances for 2013/14, the Panel 
had adopted the convention to recommend annual increases in line with the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services annual employee pay 
award and this approach had been agreed by the Council. 

3.2 Before then allowances had been frozen since 2008/09.     

3.3 In 2016 the Panel revisited the increases in allowances recommended by the 
review previously undertaken by an independent consultant in 2009 and agreed 
increases to move towards the Hertfordshire median rates.  

3.4 The Panel has previously agreed with the recommendation by the independent 
consultant’s review to introduce a care allowance at a rate of £6.00 per hour for 
children and £10.00 per hour for adults to be claimed by any Member of the 
Council where there was a child of under 14 years residing at home or a 
dependent relative in need of special attention by reason of disability. This 
recommendation had not been taken up, but it remained open to the Council to 
do so.

3.5 The Liberal Democrat Group have requested that this be reconsidered by the 
Panel as part of this year’s review and this has been supported by the Leader of 
the Council.

Page 87



- 2 -

3.6 The cost of this would depend on take-up which has not been quantified and is 
currently unknown. It is expected however that take-up will be limited and on that 
basis the cost is likely to be able to be met within the existing budget but this will 
need to be monitored. 

3.7 If this is agreed, the rate recommended in 2009 will also need to be reviewed by 
the Panel. Some comparative information from Hertfordshire local authorities is 
attached at Appendix C.     

4 Conclusion

4.1 The Panel is recommended therefore to increase Members’ Allowances by 2% 
will effect from 1 July 2018 in line with this year’s national agreement for staff.

4.2 The Panel is recommended to consider the introduction of a care allowance, and 
if agreed, what the rate of the allowance should be.  

4.3 The Panel’s recommendations will be reported for consideration to the Council 
meeting on 19 September 2018.

Rob Bridge 
Chief Executive
August 2018

Page 88



Part I
Item No: 12

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 SEPTEMBER 2018

NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

To consider the following notice of motion submitted under Procedure Rule 50:-

1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Paul Zukowskyj and 
will be seconded by Councillor Malcolm Cowan:-

“This council is delighted to note the ‘suspension’ of the Police and Crime 
Commissioners bid to take over Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service.

However, this council also notes with concern the promotion in the local plan call 
for housing sites of both WGC and Hatfield fire station sites by Hertfordshire 
County Council.

This council therefore resolves to write to Hertfordshire County Council reaffirming 
it will adamantly oppose any reduction in fire service in Welwyn Hatfield 
irrespective of which person, body or organisation proposes such a reduction, and 
also write to the county councillors for Welwyn Hatfield requesting their assurance 
that they will oppose any reduction.”

Page 89

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Equality Scheme 2018-21
	8a -Equality
	8a1- Equality Scheme  2018-21 Cabinet Sep 2018
	8a2 - Public Action Plan Aug 21 2018 - V3 updated

	8b Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Eligibility Criteria Consultation
	8b1 - Self build Committee Report Aug 2018 - v2
	8b2 - Appendix A Table of responses to public consultation on Welwyn Hatfield proposed local eligibility criteria

	8c Introduction of General Procurement Board
	8c - Procurement Board Sept 2018

	9a Surveillance Update 2018
	9 - Standards committee surveillence update DRAFT - July 2018 V3
	9a - RIPA policy DRAFT -Sept 2018 updated

	10 HIGH VIEW DEVELOPMENT
	11 WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME
	11 - Review of Members Allowances IRP Report 2018

	12 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

